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Monday, February 5, 2007


‑‑‑ Upon commencing 9:41 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


We have a new witness panel here this morning.  The panel is here to address the issue with respect to the company's equity ratio, or, as it's been called in this  proceeding, equity thickness.  Mr. Chair, before we come that, I have one preliminary matter to address.


MR. KAISER:  Go ahead.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. CASS:  I understand that arising out of the evidence of the panel dealing with deferral accounts, there was a commitment made to file a page from the Board's generic DSM decision in which a particular deferral account was addressed. 


I believe that's been passed around and it has, in the upper right‑hand corner, the marking K5.3.  It's just a single page.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, if there are no other preliminary matters, I would ask that the witnesses be sworn.  Perhaps I will first introduce them.


Sitting closest to the Board Panel is Dr. Paul Carpenter.  Beside Dr. Carpenter is Brad Boyle, and the third witness the Board has already seen and has already been sworn.  That's Mr. Joel Denomy.  


So, if the two witnesses, other than Mr. Denomy, could be sworn, please.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 5


Paul Carpenter; Sworn


Brad Boyle; Sworn


Joel Denomy; Previously Sworn

EXAMINATION‑IN‑CHIEF BY MR. CASS:


MR. CASS:  Perhaps I will begin, Mr. Chair, just by introducing the witnesses a little bit more.  


Mr. Boyle, I understand that you are the treasurer of Enbridge Gas Distribution, as well as the assistant treasurer of Enbridge Inc.; is that correct?  


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And, Dr. Carpenter, I'll have some more questions for you when I come to your qualifications, but, just for now, you are the principal and co‑chairman of the Brattle Group; is that correct?


DR. CARPENTER:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And Mr. Denomy, I know you've already been introduced to the Board, but just to confirm for everyone, you are the manager, economic and market analysis, for Enbridge Gas Distribution; is that right?


MR. DENOMY:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Boyle and Mr. Denomy, I believe that you were responsible for the company's evidence on the equity thickness issue, including answers to interrogatories; is that correct?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, we were.


MR. CASS:  And was that evidence prepared by you or under your direction and control?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, it was.


MR. CASS:  I understand, Mr. Boyle, that you have some corrections to make to the evidence, do you?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I do.  There are corrections to -- Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 24 and 25 are being corrected and updated.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, Mr. Bourke, I believe, is at this moment getting corrected pages for everyone, so perhaps when he arrives, we can hand those out.  There are some corrections to the numbers that appear on those pages that Mr. Boyle has referred to.


Mr. Denomy, I believe that you also had a correction to the evidence, did you?


EVIDENCE CORRECTIONS:


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, I do.  It's a minor correction to VECC Interrogatory No. 45, which can be found at Exhibit I, tab 24, schedule 45, on page 2.


The year 2003 -- and all of these corrections relate to that year and that year only.  Under the column "Actual Return On Equity", the number 9.743 percent should be 13.140 percent.


Under the column immediately to the right of that correction, the number 0.053 percent should be 3.45 percent.


And under the column "Normalized Return On Equity", the number 13.140 percent should be 9.743 percent.


And the column immediately to the right of that correction, the number 3.450 percent should be 0.053 percent.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, subject to those corrections, is the evidence that you've referred to, Mr. Boyle and Mr. Denomy, accurate to the best of your knowledge or belief?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, it is.


MR. CASS:  Turning back to you, then, Dr. Carpenter, I did want to go through a few of your qualifications.  I don't know that there will be any dispute about your status as an expert, but perhaps some of your qualifications to introduce you to the Board.


I understand that you have a B.A. in economics from Stanford University; is that right?


DR. CARPENTER:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  As well, you have an M.S. in management from Massachusetts Institute of Technology; is that right?


DR. CARPENTER:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And your Ph.D. in applied economics from MIT; is that correct?


DR. CARPENTER:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And you've frequently testified in the United States before federal and state regulatory commissions?


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  You've also testified before the US Congress and before regulatory bodies in Canada?


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  You've testified before the UK Monopolies and Mergers Commission and the Australian Competition Tribunal?


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  I understand that you've advised governments and regulators in a number of countries, including countries like Greece, Ireland and the Netherlands; is that right?  


DR. CARPENTER:  That's right.


MR. CASS:  And I understand that in the course of some of the testimony that you've referred to, you've been accepted as an expert on matters of gas industry regulation, pricing and competition in the United States, Australia and New Zealand?


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CASS:  And more particularly in Canada, I understand that you've been accepted as an expert on matters of regulatory economics, and particularly business and financial risks of regulated companies?


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And, in particular, you've been accepted as an expert both by the NEB and the Alberta EUB; is that right?


DR. CARPENTER:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I won't go further unless anybody has any issue with the qualifications of Dr. Carpenter.  I would ask that he be accepted as an expert in regulatory economics, and particularly the risks of ‑‑ sorry, of regulated businesses.


MR. KAISER:  Any objections to Dr. Carpenter being accepted as an expert?  No?  Please proceed, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.


Now, your evidence, I believe, Dr. Carpenter, is at Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 2.  Was that prepared by you or under your direction and control?


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes, it was.


MR. CASS:  And do you have any corrections to your evidence?


DR. CARPENTER:  I have two minor corrections.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


EVIDENCE CORRECTIONS:


DR. CARPENTER:  They're in the form of wording additions to some quotations.


On page 18, line 11, the end of that quotation on line 11 reads, "Periodic updates might be required."  The word "required" should be replaced with the phrase "necessary to assist with electricity planning."


And then turning to page 21, line 1, the sentence at the very beginning of line 1 ends with "the ADR process" carried over from the prior page.  Before the end of that sentence, you should insert "for the utility‑specific IR plans."


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Dr. Carpenter.  Now, I have a few other questions for you, Dr. Carpenter.


Professor Booth, in his evidence at pages 21 and 22, talks about the risk attached to an investment in Enbridge Gas Distribution, and sees no risk except for standard weather-related risk.


He cites your evidence for the proposition that equity investors are able to diversify away weather-related risk.


How do you respond to what Professor Booth has said in that regard?  


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes.  Well, in those passages, I think Dr. Booth is confusing two effects of weather risk.  One is the effect of weather risk on Enbridge Gas Distribution's debt holders and credit quality.  And that's the subject of Mr. Boyle's evidence.


And he's confusing that with the effect of weather risk on the business risk of equity – faced by equity investors in Enbridge, which is the subject of my evidence.


MR. CASS:  And how are these concepts different?


DR. CARPENTER:  Well, variance in Enbridge's earnings due to weather variations is very important to the current exposure that Enbridge has to the coverage restrictions in its bonds covenants, and thus its access to capital markets.  And that's described in detail by Mr. Boyle in the company evidence.


But in addition to access to capital markets, there's a second and independent issue with respect to the appropriate level of equity thickness.  And that's whether the business risk faced by equity investors in Enbridge has changed over the last decade or more as natural gas industry fundamentals have changed.


That's the subject of my evidence, and I’ve describe those changes.  Those risks do not include weather-related risks, since equity investors should be able to largely diversify away the effects of weather.


MR. CASS:  Do you agree with Professor Booth that, absent the weather-related risk, gas distribution companies like Enbridge Gas Distribution have little or no business risk associated with them?


DR. CARPENTER:  No.  I completely disagree.  And one way to disprove that assertion is to look at the Betas of gas distribution companies that are publicly traded in the United States.


Now, Beta, as you probably remember, is a measure of the degree to which the market value of a particular equity -- well, of the equity in a particular company is sensitive or correlated with movements in the market as a whole.


So a Beta of 1, for example, would be -- would indicate that the equity securities of that company are as risky or average risk as the market as a whole.  A Beta of zero would indicate that the equity is riskless.  And you can have negative Betas if a particular equity is counter-cyclical with the market, say, like gold, for example.


MR. CASS:  And what can you tell the Board about recent estimates of Betas for pure natural gas distribution companies?


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes, the investor service Value Line publishes Betas for each of the publicly traded companies in North America that it covers.  And there are nine companies that are pretty close to pure play natural gas distribution companies.  And the Beta that were reported for those companies as of December 15, 2006 are as follows.


For AGL Resources, the company in Georgia has a Beta of 0.95; Atmos Energy in Texas has a Beta of 0.8; Laclede in Missouri has a Beta of 0.9;  New Jersey Resources, a Beta of 0.0; Northwest Natural in Oregon and Washington, 0.75; Piedmont in the Carolinas, .80; South Jersey in New Jersey, 0.7; Southwest Gas in Nevada and Arizona, 0.85; and WGL in the DC area, 0.85.


And I point out that all of these firms have equity thicknesses that are in the 40 percent to 60 percent range.  So their equity is exposed to less financial leverage than is Enbridge Gas Distribution.  And this would have the effect of lowering the Beta estimates relative to firms with lower levels of equity in their capital structure, such as Enbridge.


Were the equity securities of Enbridge to be publicly traded today, of Enbridge Gas Distribution, I would expect that you would observe Betas in the same .7 to .9 range.


This means that the market would currently perceive the equity in firms like Enbridge Gas Distribution to be slightly less risky than the equity in a broad diversified portfolio of stocks, and on that basis, I would say there's no support for Professor Booth's assertion that, but for weather, gas distribution companies have little or no risk associated with them.


MR. CASS:  Could differences in regulation make a difference between Betas for pure natural gas distribution companies in United States and Betas for Canadian companies? 


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes, they might.  All of the companies I just mentioned, however, are regulated in a manner that is quite comparable to the way -- to the approach used here in Ontario.


And nearly all the firms that I've listed earlier have some form of gas cost pass-through provision in their rates.  It may be the case that in the US there's slightly more regulatory lag in that rates are not reset as frequently as in Ontario, but I doubt that those differences would offset the difference in financial leverage that I mentioned earlier, and would therefore not be a major factor in explaining these Betas.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Boyle, could I turn to you, please, and ask you to summarize why the company is proposing that the equity component of its capital structure be increased from 35 percent to 38 percent of total capital.


MR. BOYLE:  Sure.  Enbridge Gas Distribution is concerned that its financial strength has been eroded over the last several years.  This is primarily due to a steady decline in the allowed return on equity.  And that has outpaced the impact of declining interest rates on the company's financing costs.


This decline is substantial.  It is measurable.  And it could lead to an adverse financial impact on the company's customers if it is not managed prudently.


In addition, Enbridge believes that its business operating environment risks have increased since the last Board review of the utility's equity thickness in 1993,  resulting in more volatile earnings.


Consequently, the company believes that it is  critical to address these changes by increasing the utility’s deemed equity thickness from 35 percent to 38 percent for 2007.


MR. CASS:  Could you please elaborate on "the erosion of financial strength" that you just mentioned.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  With regard to the company's financial strength, the change since 1993 is best illustrated by looking at Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 1 page 19 of 31, on table 4.


This table shows the change in Enbridge's weather normalized EBIT interest coverage ratio from 1993 to 2006.


Now, EBIT stands for earnings before interest and taxes.  EBIT divided by interest expense is a good measure of financial strength.  In some ways, it is similar to how much a person's salary should be spent on mortgage payments or housing costs.  If my monthly mortgage cost is 60 percent of my salary, I may have incurred too much debt and represent a poor credit risk for a bank, compared to someone who has a mortgage payment equal to 30 percent of their monthly salary.


EBIT interest coverage for a corporation measures the ratio of the company's earnings divided by its interest expense.


Turning back to table 4 in column 3, you can see how the normalized interest coverage for Enbridge Gas Distribution has declined from 2.38 times in 1993 to 2.10 times in 2006.


The reason for this decline is that a decline in the ROE due to lower interest rates immediately flows through to EBIT.  But we cannot refinance all of the long-term debt issued by the company in every year.


It takes time for the lower interest rates to reduce the actual interest expense.  By the time that happens, interest rates may have declined again.


This cycle has continued repeatedly over this time frame and has weakened the company's credit profile, and is now at an important action point.


This is not a temporary situation; the company can assume, will correct itself, based on a particular forecast  assumption.  The company must be prepared for all reasonable interest rate and business risk scenarios and take appropriate action.


MR. CASS:  What is the appropriate level of EBIT interest coverage?


MR. BOYLE:  It is Enbridge's position that the utility must maintain, at a minimum, normalized EBIT interest coverage of 2.20 times in order to have sufficient margin for earnings volatility from its normal business operating and economic risks.


This is the minimum level we believe is necessary to maintain an adequate credit quality and have reasonable access to capital markets in most market conditions.


It is also important that the company's actual EBIT coverage be 2.0 times or greater in order for Enbridge to be legally permitted to issue new long-term debt under the company's trust indenture agreement with debt holders.  Under this agreement, Enbridge must demonstrate that its actual operating results for any 12 consecutive months out of the last 23 months result in an EBIT coverage of at least 2.0 times, after including interest expense, on the new debt issue.


MR. CASS:  And how do matters now stand in relation to this new term debt issuance test?


MR. BOYLE:  As shown on table 4, the weather-normalized EBIT coverage ratio was essentially at or above 2.2 times until 2006, when the forecast for long-term Canada bond yields fell more than expected, and this has continued in 2007.  


As a result of this lower coverage starting point and warmer than normal weather in January and December of 2006, in particular, Enbridge does not currently meet its new term debt issue coverage threshold of 2.0 times and cannot issue new term debt to fund business growth.


The company's current new issue test ratio for an indicative 100 million issuance is in the range of 1.85 times to 1.95 times, depending on the specific 12‑month period selected.  The company cannot predict when it will meet the new issue test, as it will be based on actual 2007 results, which will be impacted by the outcome of this hearing and actual weather and operating performance.


The company is permitted, though, to immediately refinance maturing long‑term debt issues with a replacement long‑term debt issue without the obligation to meet the 2.0 times coverage test.  So, while the company does have access to the long‑term debt market, it is constrained to this limited purpose.


Now, even with the 2.20 times normalized coverage, the magnitude of earnings volatility has increased since 1993, particularly due to weather, and there is no assurance that Enbridge will always meet the 2.0 times new issue coverage test even with the 38 percent equity thickness.


This is shown in the evidence at Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 24, on table 5.  This is the table that was updated earlier.


MR. CASS:  I think Mr. Bourke does have the update to that table available now.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Boyle, while Mr. Bourke is passing that around, could I perhaps ask you to explain the reason for changes to the numbers in the table?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  Two things.  First of all, there was error in the formula that was calculated in the before-tax amount after converting it from an after-tax amount.  So that is the reason for most of the changes.  


The other update I've made, though, is to the 2006 year on line 14.  Now, it says 2006 Q1.  That actually should be just 2006.  The Q1 should be deleted now, and the full year number for 2006 is negative 57.7 in column 3.


So that's the full year 2006 number, instead of the Q1 number that was there previously.


Now, this table shows the impact of actual weather versus forecast weather on the utility's EBIT over the 1993 to 2006 period.  In column 3, I've shown the impact of weather in that year.  A positive number means weather was colder than normal, while a negative number indicates a warmer than normal year.


On line 15 you can see that over this period the utility has lost about $107 million of EBIT due to warmer-than-forecast weather.  It's also worth noting that the average impact of weather in either direction - the absolute value, that is - is about $35 million.


While there certainly are other factors that influence the utility's business risk and impact earnings volatility, the weather factor is a major component.


MR. CASS:  Can you please elaborate ‑‑ sorry.  Can you please elaborate on how the company proposes to address the concerns you've described?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  The 2.20 times normalized EBIT coverage ratio that the company believes is appropriate requires the utility equity thickness to be increased to 38 percent, as shown at Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 3, page 2, on table 1.


As you can see from line 1 of that table, at the 38 percent equity level, the company would increase its equity base by $110 million in 2007, achieve the 2.20 times EBIT coverage target and have about 33-1/2 million of forecast EBIT variance before it would be at risk for falling below the 2.20 times covenant test.


I should emphasize here that the decline in ROE from lower interest rates is not a bad thing.  Indeed, it is generally good for both utility customers and utility shareholders.  Utility ratepayers benefit from lower capital costs and utility stocks typically benefit from lower interest rates that make the utility's dividend yield more appealing to investors.


However, these interests need to be balanced against the interest of the debt holders, who provide about 60 percent of the capital required to fund the company's asset base.  To help provide some perspective to the company's request for the increase in equity thickness to 38 percent, it may be helpful to refer to Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix pages 2 and 3.


These are the detailed calculations from the OEB decision supporting the figures in table 4 referred to earlier.  I would direct you to the 1993 test year at the top of page 2.  If you look in column 5, it shows the traditional utility return component, which was 10.86 percent for 1993.


If you look over at the bottom of page 3 of this appendix for the 2006 test year, you see a return component of 7.74 percent.  If the 10.86 percent return component was applied to the 2006 rate base and adjusting for taxes, customer gas rates would increase by over $145 million before tax in 2006 alone.


All the benefits from the reduced utility cost of capital over this period have flowed through to ratepayers, while the debt holders have experienced a material decline in the credit quality of the company.


I would also note that the company's application for 2007, based on 38 percent equity thickness, still results in a virtually identical cost of capital relative to the Board‑approved 2006 levels.  You can see this by referring to Exhibit A2, tab 5, schedule 2, page 5 of 6.


Now, in column 3 on page 5 of this exhibit, you see that debt levels, interest rates and the ROE formula generate an $8 million reduction in rates relative to the 2006 Board‑approved levels, while the change in equity level to 38 percent in column 4 indicates a $10 million increase in rates.


The net effect is that the cost of capital for ratepayers in 2007 is virtually unchanged relative to 2006, with the increased equity thickness to 38 percent, and the financial strength of the utility is materially improved.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Boyle, are there any other considerations that bear on the proposal for a 38 percent equity ratio?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  The company's normalized EBIT interest coverage target of 2.20 times and its request for the 38 percent equity thickness required to achieve that minimum target takes into account management's considerable experience with the numerous operating variables and their ultimate impact on the company's financial results, credit profile and capital market access and costs.  

Enbridge recognizes that the proposed increase in equity thickness appears to lead to higher customer rates.  However, this is only a near-term effect, and in the long term, Enbridge strongly believes that the ultimate costs to the ratepayer will almost certainly be much higher if it continues to let the company's credit quality decline.  These costs will rise due to the lack of access to the long-term debt market, credit rating downgrades, escalating financial costs as credit quality deteriorates and suboptimal financing decisions.  The company has carefully considered all of these factors in order to limit the increase in common equity to the lowest amount possible to achieve the necessary improvement in its financial strength.


Enbridge believes that it is critical that a portion of the benefits associated with the lower cost of capital, that if developed over a considerable number of years, be utilized to restore the financial integrity of the utility to a bare minimum level of 2.20 times normalized interest coverage.


This can be achieved with the approval of the company's requested increase and deemed equity of 38 percent.  In this way, debt investors, who provide about 68 percent of the company’s capital will also be recognized as an important stakeholder in the company.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Boyle.  That completes the examination in-chief of the panel, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Mr. Millar, who's going first?


MR. MILLAR:  I believe it's Mr. Janigan, Mr. Chair.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks.  It’s my first time in the big house.  Mr. Adams has requested that he go before me.  He has about 15 minutes of questions and would like to do so.  And I'm happy to let him do so.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. AdaMS:


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, particularly to Mr. Janigan.


Panel, my name is Tom Adams.  I represent Energy Probe.


I want to start out by agreeing with a comment you made, Mr. Boyle, at the end of your examination in-chief.  The origin for our questions is to identify strategies that can assist the utility in achieving the lowest overall cost of capital.  So I think there is some coincidence of interest here.


In 2006, the company issued two long-term debt instruments.  One issuance was at the beginning of the year and one in the middle to have year.  That data is presented in table 1 from your evidence.


Despite comparable Canadian government debt rates at the time of the second issuance, the decline in corporate spreads between the two issuances was more than enough to outweigh the somewhat higher Canadian government debt rates.  And the effective cost of debt declined, so that the effective cost of debt in the July issuance turned out to be slightly below that in the February issuance.  In February, it was 5.18 percent and declined to 5.15 percent.


My question is:  Isn't this recent market evidence of confidence in the overall financial picture of the utility?


MR. BOYLE:  Sorry, Mr. Adams, I should identify one update for you that has been put into evidence.  The July issue was an estimate at that time and the actual issuance was issued in December of 2006.  And that is shown at Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 3, page 2 of 3.


And the all-in effective cost for that issue of $175 million was 5.32 percent, as shown in that exhibit.


MR. ADAMS:  And the Canada yield on that exhibit was .32 percent higher than it was in the February 2006 issuance?  Do you agree with me there?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I do.


MR. ADAMS:  And the effective cost, although the Canada yield was 3.2 percent higher, the effective cost was only .14 percent higher?


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.  That's because the corporate spread was less because it was a shorter-term issue.  It was a 15-year term instead of a 30-year term, and for longer terms, the corporate spread tends to be higher than for shorter-term issuances because the investors are taking a longer risk.


MR. ADAMS:  Would you agree with me that there's no direct evidence here that the market is losing confidence in your debt from these most recent two issuances?


MR. BOYLE:  I would agree there's still appetite for the company's debt in the market, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  The issue of weather comes up over and over again here in the company's expression of concern here.  Now, in the time that's elapsed since 1993 -- well, let me take this in pieces.


First of all, you would agree with me that the weather-risk impact on the utility is a function of its rate design; is that fair?


MR. BOYLE:  That is part of it, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  The current rate design has a high portion of fixed costs recovered in variable charges; is that fair?


MR. BOYLE:  Relative to 1993, is that what you're referring to?  


MR. ADAMS:  First of all, let's take it in.


In absolute terms, today, if the weather is warmer than normal, your earnings decline, and if the weather's colder than normal, your earnings improve.  And that's a function of the fact that your rate design loads a lot of fixed costs into variable charges.  Are we in agreement there?


MR. BOYLE:  Well, I agree it's the variable costs that will cause the margin change, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, since 1993, the company has come forward with a number of rate re-design proposals, particularly for the Rate 1 and Rate 6 rate class, which have the largest influence on your overall earnings.


And would you agree with me that those rate design proposals have, in general, been well received by the Board and you've been able to adjust your -- the -- rebalance your rates between fixed and variable charges in favour of the company? 


MR. BOYLE:  I wouldn't say it's in fair of the company but I understand there have been changes which have had various effects on the variable charge and the fixed charge, yes.  I'd also note, though, that the customer base has increased significantly over that time frame and therefore the volume exposure that we have expressed is higher as a result of that.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Now, when you've brought forward rate-reform proposals, I mean, these proposals have not all been universally accepted by all affected groups.  But some intervenors, representing small-volume consumers, have been supportive of your rate reforms in the direction of rate rebalancing; is that fair?


MR. BOYLE:  That's my understanding.  I'm not familiar with the details of that, though, as that's not my area of expertise.  But I do recognize that there has been changes in this rate structure and it has had an impact on the weather effect, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Where I'm going here is the company has identified some problems with its interest coverage ratio, something that it wants a little bit more protection on.


One of the options you had was to jack up your equity thickness.  Another alternative that you could have brought forward in this case was a rate reform proposal to rebalance your rates.


Aren't those two reasonable alternatives given the concern?


MR. BOYLE:  That is potentially a way of addressing part of the risk, but I don't think that would address the magnitude of the variance we're talking about here.  And again, that is shown by how much weather risk we still have in our actual results that the dollars are significant.  And partly because customer growth has increased our volume risk and partly because the weather is naturally volatile, and we've seen that in our actual financial results.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Let me turn to the issue of declining average volumes.


Would you agree with me that the effect of the company's conservation programs is one effect that may be influencing the lower average volumes?  Is that fair?


MR. BOYLE:  I believe so, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  And would you also agree with me that through mechanisms like LRAM, SSM and approved budgets for recovery in cost of service of these programs, that the company is financially indemnified for the cost of offering those services to consumers?


MR. BOYLE:  I'm not familiar with the details of those as to what the indemnification you're referring to would be.  I'm sorry.


MR. ADAMS:  I don't need to get into the detail here, but at least for the portion of the decline in average volumes that's associated with conservation programs, isn't your request for increased equity thickness really a matter of double dipping?  


You get recovery from your ratepayers for the cost of those programs, and now you're asking for the -- and that recovery is outside the calculation of ‑‑ outside the ROE, and now you're asking for an adjustment also for the ROE?


MR. BOYLE:  No.  It's not related to ROE.  It's related to the decline in ROE and the effect that has had on the coverage ratios, which is independent of weather.


That's why I've looked at a lot of numbers on the weather normalized basis.  Taking out the effect of weather, as we discussed earlier in my evidence-in‑chief, has on a normalized basis -- the allowed EBIT interest coverage has realized a decline from 2.38 times to 2.1 in '06 and even further to 2.07, potentially, in 2007.  


That is independent of weather, so that's the problem.  I'm concerned about the credit quality decline.  Regardless of the weather effect, that has occurred.  The weather effect is layered on top of that and exacerbates the problem in certain cases.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Now, another issue you raised in your evidence is this higher, more volatile cost of commodity since 1993, and you say that this is a factor that represents a fundamental change.


Now, in October 2001, in the RP‑2000‑0040 case, the Board approved a new QRAM methodology, and my question is:  Hasn't the Board adjusted its practice with respect to pricing, thereby effectively eliminating the impact on the utility of this higher, more volatile commodity price environment that we now all live in?


MR. DENOMY:  I think the point with the increased volatility in commodity costs is not the fact that the company has the QRAM mechanism in place, but it increases, to a certain extent, the uncertainty with respect to how accurate our forecasts are going to be.


As we discussed last week, one of the inputs to the volumes budget, particularly the general service volumes budget, is gas prices.  And to the extent that gas prices have become more volatile, they've become more difficult to forecast; and to the extent that the forecast of gas prices are off, the forecast of the general service volumes budget will also be off.


MR. ADAMS:  Isn't a more important factor here not the absolute cost of gas which you represent in your evidence, but the relative prices of gas on a delivered basis to consumers relative to alternative fuels?  Isn't that really much more a fundamental factor that influences your business conditions?


DR. CARPENTER:  Well, I think that depends on which customer set you're talking about.  That's a very important factor with respect to industrial customers, who would have fuel‑switching capability, but, you know, if you look at the evidence from 1993 relative to 2007, there's been a sea change in the relationship between gas and oil here, due to the factors that I describe in my evidence.


MR. ADAMS:  Let's stick to the general service classes for a moment, since they have a much larger impact on the overall financial outlook for the company.


In the period since 1993, has there ever been an occasion for any sustained period where natural gas has lost its edge in either the heating markets for the general service firm customers or in the water heating markets for those customers? 


Your company has been advertising all the way along that natural gas is the cheaper way to heat your water, cheaper to heat your house.  Never seen any errors in those calculations. 


It seems to me that by way of relative price advantage, natural gas is a fundamentally competitive alternative for your customers.  Do you disagree with that?


DR. CARPENTER:  I guess all things are relative in a certain sense, but if you go back and look at the period of time post '93 until about 1999, when the WCSB was disconnected from the North American market, there's a huge gap between gas and oil.


Now, that gap has squeezed probably about half or maybe more.  If you look at the -- I've got a figure in my evidence.


MR. ADAMS:  Your figure 6?


DR. CARPENTER:  Figure 6, which describes that.  And now that WCSB gas and Dawn gas is connected into the North American market, the relationship between gas and oil prices is much tighter.


Now, that's not to say that gas doesn't have some continued price advantage over oil, but the spread is significantly less, which will affect people's decisions about capital investments and whether they buy fuel‑switching type equipment or not.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Let's just look at the industrial market, the duration of the experiences of price inversion, where residual oil has, on an energetic basis, been less costly for the consumer than natural gas.  Those have been relatively brief occasions; isn't that fair?


DR. CARPENTER:  I think that's a fair statement, but, again, you have to ‑‑ I think you have to look at this in the context of industrial customers making capital-investment decisions over the long run, and there the relationship is much tighter.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  And just to close off on this question of the relative cost effectiveness for the general service customer of natural gas versus alternative fuels.  Will the company agree with me that natural gas maintains its advantage today, notwithstanding the higher and more volatile prices for natural gas that we've seen?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, we agree with that statement.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Now, several points in your evidence.  I would suggest to you that the company has proposed "what if" scenarios; that if all fails, the consequences, as set out by the company, would be troubling, I think, to everyone in this room.


But my next series of questions relates to other ways of looking at those eventualities.  May I turn you to page 14, paragraph 28?


There's a line here:

"A sudden structural break and substantial loss in volumes either currently or prospectively could reduce earnings and result in a quick credit downgrade, given the current financial risks faced by the company."


My question is:  Does the company have any reason to feel that the regulator would be unwilling to or unable, in some sense, to respond if such an eventuality should develop?  Don't you have a regulator that can handle stuff like that?  


MR. BOYLE:  I think it's fair to say that yes, it would be a relatively brief period of time, we would expect, before you could address that, but there is the risk out there nonetheless, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Another scare-story you present in your evidence is at paragraph 43, page 21.  And there the boogy-man scenario is a recession.  There's another at paragraph 42.  There's a question of what would happen if there was a run on your bonds.  And again, my question is the same question.  Isn't the regulator capable of responding to those in the event that such untoward events develop?


MR. BOYLE:  In many cases yes, but in some cases, potentially not.  It depends on the item and the issue and how it occurs and when it occurs.


In some ways, you know, we are talking about what we'd call insurance.  You are looking for some insurance here that you've got sufficient financial room for potential eventualities which are not effected but which would be unfavourable.  And while they may not occur, there is a risk that something could happen that could cause that deterioration to have a material impact.


So we're just indicating that there are risks out there.  There are probabilities associated with those, we recognize that.  Some are higher, some are lower.  But the fact that the base level we've got for the financial strength of the utility is much lower than it used to be means that there's a lot more factors that come into play and the probability that those will have an impact is much higher.


MR. ADAMS:  Let me just pick up on this deterioration issue that you've raised in your previous response.  Can we go back to table 4 on page 19.


Would you agree with me here that, for the period 1993 through 2002, relative to the proposal that you brought forward in this case to be able to maintain a recovery ratio of 2.2 or higher, that for most of the period from '93 to 2002, relative to your proposal, the Board's practice, the regulatory practice here, was excessively generous in terms of interest coverage?


MR. BOYLE:  I don't think I’d term it "excessively generous", but it was sufficient by our definition of what we needed, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So now we're in an environment where we're very close to the line -- perhaps I should take the rest of it in argument.  Thank you, panel, for your answers.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Mr. Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. JANIGAN: 


MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if I could first deal with a table that was corrected this morning.  And I have one brief question on that table before I get into my -- the substance of my cross-examination.


That's on Exhibit 1 -- Exhibit I, tab 24, schedule 45, page 2.


MR. DENOMY:  I think we've got that.


MR. JANIGAN:  And I'm curious with respect to the figure set out in fiscal year 2005.  Every other year there is -- show a difference, a numerical difference, between the actual return on equity and the derivation from approved to the utility-normalized figures.


Is there some reason why they are exactly the same in 2005? 


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  That's because the weather variance was zero, basically.  The actual weather was bang on the forecast weather.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thanks.


My second question arising from your examination in-chief with Mr. Cass this morning was:  In your examination you, both Dr. Carpenter and the Enbridge witnesses, gave what I would consider to be some new evidence with respect to the matters in play here today.  I know Dr. Carpenter set out his findings with respect to nine Betas on pure-play companies.  And I was wondering why this evidence was not included in some kind of rebuttal testimony filed before this proceeding so that we would have had an opportunity to examine or ask questions on it beforehand.


MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Janigan, I didn't think that we expected it to come as a surprise to you or your expert witness.  As you say, it was an attempt to respond very briefly to what Professor Booth had said.  And we didn't expect that it was going to be of any surprising nature to you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, Professor Booth's comments were filed in his initial evidence.  That's a long period of time between now and the date of the hearing.


MR. CASS:  Well, I'm sorry, Mr. Janigan.  I would have to take the fault for that, then:  I did not think that this was going to be a surprise to you.  There was no written rebuttal filed to Professor Booth's evidence.  It was intended to be just a very brief response to one point.  And, again, I had not thought it was going to be surprising.  And if I was wrong in that I apologize.  And it was my fault.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  We'll attempt to deal with it in our own evidence.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  I want to, first of all, attempt to organize at least my thinking with respect to the remedy that you're seeking here today and the evidence that's in support of each remedy.


And in effect, it's sort of a combined panel, as I understand it.  The remedy that each of you are seeking is the same, but there are different reasons for seeking that remedy.  Am I essentially correct?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  There are two factors.  There is the change in business risk and volatility in earnings, if you will, and then there's the credit strength, the profile of the utility as well, or the financial risk that we're referring to as well, and you're right; the remedy is the same.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And Dr. Carpenter, effectively, your evidence is that the changes in business risk demand a response from the Board to change the equity component in order that the company continue to have access to capital on a reasonable basis?  Or continue to provide a fair return to its shareholders?


DR. CARPENTER:  That's correct.  It's -- the business risk evidence is an independent basis for a change in equity thickness relative to the credit quality issues that Mr. Boyle talks about.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And you're not here to testify to capital market conditions that Enbridge faces or market access or the appetite for Enbridge securities in general?


DR. CARPENTER:  No, I'm not.  Mr. Boyle is well versed in that material.


MS. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I note, I believe, Dr. Carpenter, you filed testimony in the Union proceedings along with Drs. Kolbe and Vilbert, I'm sorry?


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And I believe Drs. Kolbe and Vilbert filed the expert financial information in support of Union's requested increase to the common equity ratio.  Is that correct?


DR. CARPENTER:  Well, they filed what I would consider a traditional cost of capital type technical evidence, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And Drs. Kolbe and Vilbert argued that the common equity ratio affects the risks to common shareholders so that financial leverage adjustments have to be made to the fair return on equity, and that, in practice, the common equity ratio is linked to a fair ROE.  Is that fair?


DR. CARPENTER:  Well, I think the concept they're referring to is one of total return.  Obviously, a total return on a regulated utility's assets is a function both of the ROE as well as the equity thickness and the cost of debt.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, traditionally, when matters of the common equity ratio have been considered, boards have had before them a range of testimony from expert financial witnesses.  And in this circumstance, am I understanding that, in fact - you were dealing with changes in the business risk, I believe, Dr. Carpenter - that the expert financial testimony is to be provided by the Enbridge panel?


DR. CARPENTER:  Well, others can correct me if I am wrong, but I understood that the issue here was equity thickness and not ROE per se, or an adjustment to ROE, and therefore my evidence goes to changes in business risk that might justify an increase in the equity thickness.  


It does not go to the issue of whether or not the formula-produced ROE is reasonable.


And so if all we're talking ‑‑ I guess to short circuit that, if all we're talking about is equity thickness and not a change to ROE, then as I understand it, traditionally in Canada, at least ever since the National Energy Board's multi‑pipeline case, changes in business risk have gone to the question of equity thickness as distinct from ROE.


MR. JANIGAN:  I thought we agreed that they were inextricably linked.


DR. CARPENTER:  Well, in terms of financial economics, yes; but in terms of the way at least I understand the regulatory bodies in Canada have dealt with these issues, they have separated business risk from ‑‑ or they've treated business risk in the context of equity thickness.


MR. JANIGAN:  On those occasions when boards have had these kinds of questions before them, usually they've had evidence from expert financial witnesses on those particular issues, have they not?


DR. CARPENTER:  Well, the ones that I can think of, the issue of ROE was also in play, so in that context, yes, they would have had all of it.


MR. JANIGAN:  And in Union Gas, for example, the testimony of Drs. Kolbe and Vilbert was available to the Board?


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes, it was.


MR. JANIGAN:  But in this circumstance we -- Enbridge is coming forward with your testimony on business risk and your testimony on how business risks have increased, but we don't have the companion evidence from, for example, Drs. Vilbert and Kolbe that were in the Union case?


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes.  You don't have that evidence.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, with respect to the Enbridge panel, I understand that you've been engaged in the activities of the company as it's associated with capital markets?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And has either of your expertise been recognized by either retainer by outside companies or external stakeholders to present evidence of or opinions on financial issues?


MR. BOYLE:  My expertise is with respect to Enbridge Gas Distribution solely, and its financial integrity, strength, cash flows, credit quality, basically everything where with respect to the financing of Enbridge Gas Distribution and its interaction with the capital markets on debt financing and other capital required for financing of Enbridge Gas Distribution.


So that's my focus and expertise with respect to Enbridge Gas Distribution, and that's what we're looking to address in terms of credit quality and financial integrity and financial strength; that is, the utility and Enbridge Gas Distribution only at this point.


MR. JANIGAN:  And Mr. Boyle and Mr. Denomy, you're not putting yourselves forward as experts in the area of financial markets in general?


MR. BOYLE:  With respect to capital markets for Enbridge Gas Distribution, yes.  With respect to what it requires to finance the utility in Canada in these markets that we deal in, yes.  But if you're talking European or US markets for other companies, no.  But for Enbridge Gas Distribution, yes, I think I am expert in that area.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And your advice to date has been only to your shareholder or to your ‑‑ sorry, your employer, Enbridge? 


MR. BOYLE:  To the company, and the fiduciary and legal obligations I have to the company, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah.  Have either of you published any articles in refereed journals with respect to financial markets and the capital attraction standards in matters such as this?


MR. BOYLE:  I have not, no.


MR. DENOMY:  Nor have I.


MR. JANIGAN:  Good. 


Now, my understanding was that in previous cases involving issues associated with capital markets, that you have generally employed an outside independent financial expert.  I believe Mr. Lackenbauer has been employed by you in the past; am I correct in that?  


MR. BOYLE:  Many years ago, yes, he was.


MR. JANIGAN:  And is there someone in between that my memory has failed to recall?


MR. BOYLE:  Not since 1993 that I am aware of, no.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, has EGDI provided anything in their evidence that illustrates the yields that EGDI debt is now trading at to see how investors view its credit?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  There is some evidence in interrogatory around the spread on Enbridge Gas Distribution debt, the corporate credit spread that it trades at over periods of time, as well as some other utilities.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Can you identify where that evidence is, Mr. Boyle? 


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  If you look at Exhibit I, tab 24, schedule 55, it would be the attachments thereto.


MR. JANIGAN:  Again, that's in the VECC Interrogatory No. 55; is that what you're saying?


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And is EGDI debt trading as a good A credit, or are the spreads showing that the market thinks that EGDI is likely to be downgraded?


MR. BOYLE:  It would be trading as what I would call a weak A, but it is trading as an A, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And do you regard the yields on EGDI debt, the yields that they're currently selling at, as fair and reasonable?


MR. BOYLE:  They would be in line with a weak A credit, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And are the spreads too high, in your judgment?


MR. BOYLE:  Well, personally, I always think they're too high, but that's just my position as a corporate issuer.  But, sorry, they're in line with a weak A credit.


MR. JANIGAN:  And do they reflect EGDI's increased business risk, in your view?


MR. BOYLE:  To some extent, although I'm not sure it's fully reflected, because there is changes that are developing that I don't think the market has fully captured, and there is variance over time with general market conditions, which are hard to sometimes differentiate.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now ‑‑


DR. CARPENTER:  Excuse me.  I'd hasten to add that they refer to business risk as it affects bond holders, not as it would necessarily affect equity holders, just to be clear about that.


MR. JANIGAN:  I understand.  Okay.


Now, Mr. Boyle, if EGDI's indenture did not require a 2.0 interest coverage restriction, do you think that EGDI could sell debt on fair and reasonable terms?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And do TransCanada PipeLines or Ontario Hydro have a two-times interest coverage restriction on their bond indentures, to your knowledge?


MR. BOYLE:  It's my knowledge they do not.  They have a different form of financial covenant related to capital structure leverage.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I believe it's to the effect that the companies are simply limited to a maximum of the 75 percent debt on their capital structure?  Would that be correct?


MR. BOYLE:  That's my understanding.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And does their debt trade on similar spreads to that of EGDI?


MR. BOYLE:  I'm not sure offhand, but I believe they would be in the ballpark.  I don't have the exact details of those -- actually, just let me refer to one thing here for a moment, please.


MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Janigan, while the witness is doing that, would this be a convenient time for the morning break?


MR. JANIGAN:  It would be, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  15 minutes.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:53 a.m  


‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:18 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Try again, Mr. Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.


Mr. Boyle, I think we were in the middle of an answer of yours when we broke.  Do you want to complete that answer?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  I believe you were referring to how TransCanada and Hydro One would compare to Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. JANIGAN:  I thought that was the question before, but that's fine.  Continue on.


MR. BOYLE:  Well, I have looked at what we called the spread reports, corporate spread reports, for various utilities in Canada, looking at a recent January report.  I recall Enbridge Gas Distribution and TransCanada trade very closely overall.  I call them both sort of weak A type credits.  


Hydro One does trade stronger than both of those entities.  It's, I would call, more like a stronger A credit than a weak A credit, so it's trading at spreads that are tighter than or less than those of Enbridge Gas or TransCanada.


MR. JANIGAN:  And why does EGDI have an interest coverage restriction rather than a maximum debt restriction like Ontario Hydro or TransCanada?


MR. BOYLE:  It's more just historical development of the trust indentures that were in use at the time that Enbridge moved to its current trust indenture, which was about '91/'92 kind of time frame.  And there are different trust indentures and different covenants that each utility or company will have, and it really is just a function of market conditions at that point in time when they create their trust indentures.


MR. JANIGAN:  Has EGDI approached the trustee to see about getting this indenture provision removed or changed?


MR. BOYLE:  It wouldn't be the trustee.  It would be the existing debenture or debt holders or MTN holders that would need to be approached.  And that becomes very complicated, because there is a considerable amount of debt outstanding at EGD and a number of debenture holders you need to deal with.


However, we have looked at recent market conditions, and there is a friend the current market to what I will call weaker covenants or requirements, and we will look at the market when we do our next MTN shelf to determine if we can move to a new trust indenture that would be perhaps less restrictive.


Having said that, that will depend on market conditions at that time, and it will not allow us to avoid it until the existing debt on the existing trust indenture runs out.


So, basically, the trust indenture that is in place now applies to all the debt that's outstanding, and that will last for about 30 years, because we've got 30‑year debt outstanding.


If we move to a new trust indenture, that would apply to new debt at that point going forward.  So there would be an opportunity on new debt going forward to be issued with a different covenant.  In fact, I believe Union Gas is looking at doing that, or has considered that, as well.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, is there anything in your testimony that is indicative of the state of debt markets as a whole and how receptive they are to different issues at the moment?  I'm talking about basically the capital attraction standard here.


MR. BOYLE:  Well, I note that it is currently a relatively good credit ‑‑ corporate credit environment in the markets.  There is, I will call it, good appetite for corporate debt at this point in the cycle.  The banks are not capital constrained, which does happen from time to time, and there is a cyclicality to it, but I note that we are in a stronger corporate credit environment right now, and I think that will likely continue for a period of time. 


At this point, how long that is will be difficult to determine.  It will be affected by world events, as well, or other events outside the control of certainly the company.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, that wasn't in the original testimony of Enbridge, that outlook.  Am I right or wrong on that?


MR. BOYLE:  There was certainly some information in the interrogatory responses on ‑‑ I can't recall exactly what I had in the original evidence.  I think there was some material, but there was more extensive discussion in some of the interrogatory response, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if you could turn to the copy of the Business Week article that I've furnished to you.  I wonder if that could be distributed and marked as an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  Which document again was that, Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  That's the article, Business Week.


MR. MILLAR:  We'll mark that as Exhibit K6.1, and I'll distribute it to the panel.


EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  COPY OF BUSINESS WEEK ARTICLE 


DATED JANUARY 29, 2007.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in tough markets, as I understand, lower grade debt issues often get crowded out and have trouble attracting capital; would you agree with that?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I would.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I'm turning to a copy of this article in Business Week of January 29th, 2007, and this concerns junk bonds, which, as I understand it, are bonds that are rated below triple B minus; is that correct?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, it is.


MR. JANIGAN:  And these bonds are rated effectively four notches below EGDI's, which is A minus with Standard & Poor's; am I correct?


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So they are inferior credits, obviously?


MR. BOYLE:  They are weaker credits, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  And in light of that, if we look at the article here that, in fact, the junk market has exploded over the past several years with new ‑‑ if you look at the paragraph that is on the third column, second paragraph at the top of the page, that: 

"New issuance has soared from 62 billion in 2002 to an average of 127 billion annually over the last four years, and that market has been dwarfed by the rise of leverage loans, the higher‑yielding bank loans that hedge funds and other investors are snapping up.  Since 2002, the issuance of leveraged loans has more than tripled to $480 billion last year."


And if you look with me on the following page, about mid‑way down, it notes the amount of money in the market:  

"Together these factors have combined to create unheard-of pools of liquidity.  Not only has that helped to keep a lid on interest rates, holding debt payments down, it has also made funding readily available, even for struggling companies."


So, I guess -- would you agree with those comments, by the way?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I would agree with that.  And that's essentially my reference to the fact that it's a good corporate credit environment in the current market.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  The question that arises is:  Why would EGDI have trouble attracting capital when the junk bond issuers seem to have no trouble at all?


MR. BOYLE:  Well, I guess two issues.  One, trouble is two things.  One is the access to capital on reasonable terms.  And that is an issue.  And the second is the cost of that.


And in the case of EGD, it doesn't have access to the long-term debt market for new-issue debt that, as I mentioned before, because of the covenant test, but it does have access to the long-term debt market for refinancing and it has access to other forms of capital.  Certainly it's just a question of cost, and what's the most effective cost to finance the company in the long run.


I would note that you have to be careful, looking at costs in the short run versus the long run because if you issue a 30-year piece of debt at an extra cost of $100,000, let's say, that's not just a cost in the next year, that's a cost for the next 30 years.  So you need to multiply that higher cost by the life of the debt, not just the first year of the debt.


MR. JANIGAN:  But I think we agreed earlier, or you informed me earlier, I should say, that for new debt it may well be possible to change the terms of the indenture so that the two-times interest coverage restriction won't apply.


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.  But it doesn't allow us to issue debt right now because the old debt that's out there, we are prohibited under the terms of that debt from issuing new debt.


So we have to wait until we can issue new debt before we're able to change that covenant on the new debt, but, as I said, because it's out there on the old debt, we still are obligated to abide by that for the term of the existing outstanding debt, which is to about 2036 right now.  So it's going to be 30 years before we're able to get out from underneath it, if you will, on a practical basis.


But we're at least looking to move in the right direction, if we can, with the new trust indenture, potentially.


MR. JANIGAN:  And as you indicated, that in order to renegotiate that trust covenant on the old debt, you would have to -- or have the consent of the current bondholders, is that what you're saying?


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.  And typically, when you look for concessions from them, they look for a fee for that.  And that's the cost you need to incur to change that covenant.  And it typically is fairly expensive to do so because the bondholders have that covenant for a reason; they want protection.  And losing that protection would come at a cost to the company.  And I believe it would be too significant a cost to incur for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, as I understand, the terms of that indenture permit you to issue first-mortgage bonds?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, they do.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah.  And why was that kind of financing maintained in the indenture?


MR. BOYLE:  It was maintained in the case there was financial distress, essentially, for the utility.


The reason for that is that, basically, that would become a senior form of capital for the utility, and that would therefore downgrade the credit quality of all the existing unsecured debtholders.


So, in many cases, if you're just issuing unsecured debt, the trust indenture would not prohibit any unsecured debt from being issued, and that is fairly common.  We are the luxury, in this case, of theoretically issuing first mortgage bond without the need of meeting the two-times trust indenture covenant.  However, that would be inconsistent with the spirit, if you will, of the trust indenture that we'd only do that in cases where there's financial distress.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, as I understand it, one of the reasons given back in the ‘90s was that the ability to issue first-mortgage bonds was something useful to maintain, if you were shut out of the MTN market.  Am I correct on that?


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct, but at that time we had less MTNs issued that were on an unsecured basis, and there was some secured debt at that point.  So you did have both.  But the process was to phase out the secured debt as it matured and was retired, and that is, in fact, what happened since that time, so that there is no longer any first mortgage bonds issued by the company and therefore no secured debt.  So the senior debtholders are the unsecured debt issue -- holders.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, back to Exhibit K6.1.  It would appear that this article -- if the facts contained in this article were true, you're not going to be shut out of markets in the event of a credit downgrade.


MR. BOYLE:  No, that's pretty unlikely.  The question is at what cost.  Aside from the fact that we would -- legally, we can't issue new long-term debt at this point without dealing with the existing debt holders, as I said, that would come at a cost.


MR. JANIGAN:  Mm-hm.  So, and then we had a number of comments about "hitting the wall" and this sort of thing.  So effectively what we're talking about is additional costs.  We're not talking about being shut out of capital markets.


MR. BOYLE:  I would agree.  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I wonder if we could turn to the evidence of Dr. Booth and his schedule 10, which is at the back of his evidence.  And -- well, I guess I should wait for it to be called up.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. BOYLE:  Sorry.  I have it in my book.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is the protocol here to wait for it to be called up on the screen before you proceed?


MR. KAISER:  Well, if we're likely to get it.  Do we have it?


MR. JANIGAN:  It would be at the end of the evidence.


I'll push on --


MR. KAISER:  What page, Mr. Janigan, from the evidence?


MR. JANIGAN:  He has a table with Canada bond yields.  And you see that the long bond yield, at the time that he gave his testimony, was 4.13 percent.  You see that there?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, the Canada over tens on schedule 10?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And it is the decline in this yield that is causing the allowed ROE to decline, and with it, EGDI's interest coverage ratio.  Is that correct?


MR. BOYLE:  Essentially, yes, it's the forecast of that that's in the ROE formula, but it ultimately is based on that; correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And when we're talking about interest rate here, this is the cost or the price that EGDI must pay to borrow money; correct?


MR. BOYLE:  Well, this is the underlying Canada bond yield.  You would need to add the corporate spread that would apply to that for EGD.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And in the case of the real yield, that's the return on the -- on the real return bond, it was 1.67 percent at the time of Dr. Booth's testimony.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, and this has declined over the last six years; correct?


MR. BOYLE:  I don't know.  I don't follow the real-return bonds specifically.


MR. JANIGAN:  Do you know whether or not the real-return -- you don't know whether or not that real-return percentage has declined over the last six years or not?


MR. BOYLE:  I do not off the top, no.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, if it's declined, I would assume that it would be for either one of two things.  Either reduced demand or increased supply.  Would I be correct? 


MR. BOYLE:  I think there would also be because of, as a real-return bond, I'm not sure how inflation factors into that, if it's on a forecast basis or on an actual basis.  It would depend because you would look at actual inflation and determine if that is in line with the forecast, so there would be some inflation elements in there, I believe, but this represents what is in place at that point in time.  And that can change over time.  And it would it would be more than just supply and demand, I would think.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  If you factored out the inflation on that analysis, if it's declining, it would be either because of increased supply or reduced demand, I would assume? 


MR. BOYLE:  If you factored out inflation, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Pardon me?


MR. BOYLE:  If you factor out inflation, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if you could look at Dr. Booth's schedule 9, which is on the previous page, and that shows the government net lending, and over a period from 1950 to 2004.


And would you agree with me that since 1997, we haven't had the government sector borrowing new money in the capital market, so, effectively, the government has withdrawn from the markets and is just rolling over existing debt issues?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And if you turn to schedule 12 of Dr. Booth's testimony, it shows pre‑tax profits, corporate profits, in Canada as a percentage of GDP.


And you will note that corporate profits seem to be at an all‑time high.  Would you agree with that?


MR. BOYLE:  It appears from this graph that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  And would you also agree that Canadian company debt ratios are the lowest that they have been for the last seven years and they are ‑‑ and these companies are paying down debt, as well?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  Generally the companies have been improving their credit strength and increasing their equity thickness and reducing debt, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And if you turn up schedule 16 of Dr. Booth's evidence and we look at spreads on the AA, A and BBB bonds, there's a -- if we recall the Exhibit K1.6, it showed or indicated that a large amount of capital was going into non‑investment‑grade debt.  And here we see that the spreads across the board, between A, AA, and triple B, are relatively low.


Triple B debt here, would you agree, is yielding barely 100 basis points over long Canada bonds, and previously they'd been up 200 or 300 basis points?  Would you agree with that?


MR. BOYLE:  Generally, yes.  I'm not sure on what term of debt this is for, specifically.  It's not noted here, but it would depend on ‑‑ but I would agree that it is narrow relative to historical levels.  And, again, that points to a strong credit environment in the current -- in the current day markets, but that is not always the case.   


And as you see from some of those spikes in earlier years, in the weaker credit environments, you see a much larger gap between the cost of those different forms of debt.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, but you would agree with me, currently, as this graph would indicate, there doesn't seem to be an access problem for either A or triple B‑rated companies in Canada?


MR. BOYLE:  Well, again, access is almost always there at a price.  The question is:  What is the price of that?  And currently, though, I agree the price is narrower than it has been in the past, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I wonder if we could turn to schedule 19 of Dr. Booth's evidence.  And I believe this has been compiled with the data that was provided by EGDI in VECC Interrogatory 55.  


So EGDI had data on spreads for its debt and those of comparable regulated utilities in Canada.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And would you agree that EGDI's spreads are consistently lower than the average of its comparables?


MR. BOYLE:  Historically, generally, yes, that's been the case.


MR. JANIGAN:  And what do lower spreads indicate?


MR. BOYLE:  They typically indicate a higher credit quality, and that's what Enbridge Gas has had historically relative to some of its peers, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And with respect to the ability to attract credit, if EGDI did not have this two‑times interest coverage restriction, would you still say that it needed 38 percent common equity on the basis of the capital attraction standard?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I would, because, as I said, it is not only access, but it is costs.  While access is somewhat limited, the weaker credit quality will lead to higher costs regardless of the trust indenture covenant, whether we need it or not.  So even for refinancing debt, we would have to do so at a higher cost because of the weaker credit quality.  


And, as I said, when you take that cost and add it up over the life of the debt you are issuing, that cost, in our view, is higher than the relative cost of increasing the credit quality of the company by increasing the equity thickness.


So, again, our view is that the cost is less by doing it as we proposed, increasing the equity thickness, rather than paying the higher cost due to the lower credit quality.


MR. JANIGAN:  But I think we've just established that the EGDI has a lower cost spread than the comparables?


MR. BOYLE:  It currently does, but that cost is higher than it would be if we had 38 percent equity, and it will get even more exaggerated as we go forward without improving the credit quality of the company, because continued deterioration of that credit spread will cause the weaker interest coverage, and that will cause our costs to go higher than they otherwise would be.  


So it's relative to the peers, yes, but it's relative to what your costs would otherwise be without the equity thickness versus with the equity thickness.  And that's what we're focussing on.


MR. JANIGAN:  So what you're saying, the 38 ‑‑  if you had the 38 percent common equity, that these spreads would be even greater between EGDI and the comparables; is that what you're saying?


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, if you look at the company's supplementary evidence, Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 3, page 2.


MR. BOYLE:  I've got that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And at the bottom of the page, it indicates that the issuance of 175 million medium‑term note financing is costing 5.32 percent.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, it does.  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, can you explain to the Board where this ‑‑ how this 5.32 percent was derived?


MR. BOYLE:  Sure.


MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if I ‑‑ well, before you do that, if I could have the pricing supplement to the prospectus associated with this note distributed as an exhibit and marked as an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  K6.2, Mr. Janigan.


EXHIBIT NO. K6.2:  PRICING SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECTUS.

MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I've got that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Just wait until that's distributed, Mr. Boyle.


We can proceed now.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I've got that. 

MR. JANIGAN:  Right.  I was going to draw your attention to that part of the prospectus where it's indicated that it was issued at a cost of 4.77 percent.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  And if you look at the bottom of Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 3, page 2, as you referred to earlier, if you take the Canada yield shown of 4.54 percent there in the footnote A, that's comprised of the 4.04 percent GOC bond yield plus the .50 of hedge costs.  So the 4.04 GOC bond yield, and then you add the corporate spread shown up in item 1 of .73 percent, that 4.04 GOC bond yield plus the corporate spread of .73 gives you the interest rate shown on the pricing supplement of 4.77 percent.


However, there was a hedge cost associated with this issuance that the company had in place that, as a result of decreasing interest rates over the time frame, there was a hedge unwind cost of .50 percent which is amortized over the life of the debt, and gives you an effective coupon of 5.27 percent as shown on Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 3, page 2 of 3.


Then you add in the amortized issuance costs which are commissions and legal and auditing expenses and the like, and that gives you the effective cost of 5.32.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, if, in fact, the hedging fee had been negative, would the issuance costs have been shown as 5.32 percent or the actual spread?


MR. BOYLE:  Sorry, can you repeat that, Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, I'm just curious.  You've indicated that you, in answer to our Interrogatory No. 83 

-- perhaps you want to pull that up.  If I can have Interrogatory No. 83, tab 24.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I've got that.


MR. JANIGAN:  That EGDI has changed how it reports the hedging fee.  And previously it was an issue cost, and since it could have been positive or negative, it was added to the issue cost and amortized over the life of the bond.


Now it's been added to the cost, so the cost is reported at 5.32 percent instead of the true cost of 4.77 percent.


MR. BOYLE:  No.  The effective cost would be the same regardless.  It's just which category it would be shown in.  I've tried to outline the categories more appropriately with how the costs are related, because the hedge is related to the Canada bond yield itself.  It is a cost that is paid on issuance of the debt but it is related to the Canada yield, and that's why I've moved it into that category as opposed to the issuance cost, but the end result would be exactly the same.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, it's not the same, though, if we were looking at these and looking at the figure to try to gauge the attractiveness of EGDI's debt on the market;  correct?  I mean, it's really the spread between the long Canada bonds and the issuance percentage that we're concerned with here, which is 73 basis points, for that purpose.


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.  That would be unchanged and that is the corporate spread; you're correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And that 73 basis points is lower than the spreads in Dr. Booth's graphs?


MR. BOYLE:  Well, that's because this is 15-year debt rather than 30-year debt, which is in the graphs.


So you're going to have a difference, obviously, because of the term of the debt and the corporate credit spread for longer term debt is higher.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, this is the most recent issuance, I take it, of medium-term debt by Enbridge?


MR. BOYLE:  By Enbridge Gas, yes, it is.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the market hasn't noticed any increase in business risk by -- of Enbridge, seemingly?


MR. BOYLE:  I'm not sure what you're referring to there.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. BOYLE:  Sorry.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, obviously the .73 percent spread does not seem to indicate that the market is responding to increased business risks that Enbridge is supposedly undergoing.


MR. BOYLE:  I think it does reflect that, because it is, as I said, treating it as a weak A credit, and that is at a higher cost than a mid-A, for example, or a strong A, as we talked about earlier.


So this is reflecting the current credit profile of the company.  If we change the credit profile, that spread will change and reflect a new business risk environment.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is it possible you could undertake to provide the spreads associated with issuances by Ontario Hydro or TransCanada for medium-term debt at the same time?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  Actually, I've got that here, roughly.  That was the information I was referring to earlier when we came back after the break.


So depending on the term you pick, I've got, for example, five-year term that Enbridge would be about 38 basis points, TransCanada would be about 40 basis points and Hydro One would be about 31 basis points.


In the 10-year term, Enbridge Gas, according to this report, would be about 60 basis points, TransCanada about 62, 63 basis points, and Hydro One about 47 basis points.


For 30-year debt --


MR. JANIGAN:  Do you have a 15-year term, by any chance?


MR. BOYLE:  I don't have 15 years here specifically for the others, unfortunately.


For 30-year debt, Enbridge Gas would be about 101 basis points, TransCanada, 120 to 125, and Hydro One about 80.


Now, this is just one investment bank report, but all of the others would likely be in the ballpark, but there would be some nuances from dealer to dealer as to their view on the market.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, if this hedge fee had turned out to be negative and the spread was, let's say, 20 basis points above long Canadas, how would this amount have been reported?  Would it have been reported in the same fashion?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  I would have shown a lower number under the Canada, government of Canada yield.  And I would show the 4.04 percent minus some number.  So it would have been a negative number instead of a positive number on that line, as opposed to a negative number under issue costs as we've shown it in the past.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So it would not have been -- I'm sorry.  I didn't grasp --


MR. BOYLE:  It would not have affected the corporate spread.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Which would have been reported as?


MR. BOYLE:  73 basis points. 


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, Dr. Carpenter, my understanding is in your evidence that you've defined "business risk" as uncertainty about the income earning capability of a firm's assets?


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And in the case of a regulated utility, I assume that's whether the company will meet its expected rate of return on equity.


DR. CARPENTER:  Well, it's whether it will meet its un- -- uncertainty as to whether it will meet its expected return on equity and its long-term recovery of capital.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if we could take a look at VECC Interrogatory No. 45, please, again.


And I would look to page 2 of that interrogatory, and I'm looking at the column that shows the normalized return on equity.  And if we look down that column - and it starts in 1985 and runs to 2005 - I don't see any year, up until 2005, where EGDI has not exceeded its allowed return on equity on a weather normalized basis.  Am I correct on that?


DR. CARPENTER:  That appears to be correct, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And if we look at the year that I believe is highlighted in your evidence of when business risk started to turn around, which I think was 1993, there seems to be no significant difference between the earning patterns of the company from '93 up until the end of 2004, from the period prior to 1993 that's reported here.


DR. CARPENTER:  I think that's correct.  I make one side comment, that you ascribed to me 1993 was a year of change in business risk.  I would have said more like the late '90s, when the WCSB reconnected or connected with the North American market with respect to gas commodity price and the potential impacts of that on average use per customer.


But, having said that, I agree with your observation with respect to historical returns, which I think we need to recognize are not forward‑looking measures of market returns, which is what an equity investor is going to be concerned with.  These are historical book returns.  And, obviously, during this period, the company is doing everything under its power to see to it that it meets its allowed return.


It doesn't tell you anything about forward‑looking risks associated with that, other than provide some historical context.


MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if it would be possible to ‑‑ if we look up at table 4 on page 19 of the company's testimony.  That's at E2, tab 1, schedule 1, and this is a table of normalized EBIT interest coverages.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the company reports the excess EBIT over the two-times coverage?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if it might be possible, Mr. Boyle, for you to redo table 4, with all the actual weather-normalized interest coverages and surplus EBIT over the two times interest coverage ratio.  Is that possible for you to do?


MR. BOYLE:  It is.  I may actually have some of that already.  Let me just refer to something here, please.


I've got part of that as Exhibit I, tab 16, schedule 54, page 3 of 4.  That has the actual utility EBIT interest coverage based on the actual ROE, and so that's the difference between the allowed, on a weather-normalized basis, in column 3 of table 4 that you referred to, and the actual utility ROE.


Now, I don't have column 4 transposed in the interrogatory response of Exhibit I, tab 16, schedule 54.  I could add that in, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And on this ‑‑ yes.  And so on this side is the weather normalized return on equity reflected in terms of interest coverage?


MR. BOYLE:  This is the actual; not weather normalized, but the actual ROE.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. BOYLE:  So, basically, instead of the weather normalized ‑‑


MR. JANIGAN:  Could you do it for weather normalized?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I believe I could.


MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could undertake to do that for me, please.


MR. BOYLE:  Sure.


MR. MILLAR:  That's undertaking J6.1.  And, Mr. Janigan, would you please restate the undertaking for the benefit of the court reporter.


MR. JANIGAN:  It's redoing table 4 of the company's evidence at E2, tab 1, schedule 1, with the actual normalized ‑‑ I'm sorry, the normalized return on equity for the years 1985 to 2005.


UNDERTAKING NO. J6.1:  REDO TABLE 4 OF COMPANY'S 


EVIDENCE AT E2, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 1, WITH NORMALIZED 


RETURN ON EQUITY FOR YEARS 1993 TO 2005.

MR. JANIGAN:  I believe that's ‑‑ is that the ‑‑


MR. BOYLE:  No, I could do that from '93 to ‑‑


MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry, '93 to 2005.  I'm looking at a different table here.  That's fine.


Now, I wonder if I could return just briefly to our Interrogatory No. 45?  And, Mr. Boyle, would you agree with me that at many occasions during the years that are reflected in this interrogatory, the company gave evidence to the effect that there was increased business risk for the company?


MR. BOYLE:  I think, as Mr. Carpenter indicated, from 1993 onwards is what we were focussing on, and, in that case, it was the latter '90s time when the gas link between the WCSB and Dawn was established.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, I'm not so much concerned with Dr. Carpenter's evidence in this respect.  It's the evidence that has been offered to the Board by Enbridge in the past by expert witnesses, such as Dr. Sherwin and McShane, on aspects of business risk.  


Would you agree with me that on many occasions in the past, Enbridge has offered expert testimony to the effect that business risk was increasing for the company?


MR. BOYLE:  The only time I'm familiar with was the ROE hearing discussions a couple of years ago, when Ms. McShane represented the company on that issue, but that is distinct from the issues we're talking about in this case, which is equity thickness and the business that is related to that.


MR. JANIGAN:  So you don't have any recollection of expert testimony offered by Enbridge in the past to the effect that business risk was increasing and that measures would have to be taken to address it?


MR. BOYLE:  Well, in 1993 we addressed that as part of the equity thickness and ROE at that point in time, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the '93 result was not completely responsive to Enbridge's aspirations; is that fair?


MR. BOYLE:  The decision of the Board was different than the company had requested, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And no adverse consequences flowed from that difference?


MR. BOYLE:  I would hesitate to say "adverse."  It really is that ultimately there were cost differences that could have developed, but it is hard to figure out exactly what those would be, I would agree.  It just depends on the overall credit quality of the company, and part of that is its credit profile, EBIT interest coverage and overall equity ratio, yes. 


MR. JANIGAN:  And the company a had no difficulty earning its return on equity for those years following 1993?


MR. BOYLE:  No.  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in your evidence on Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 1, on table 1, on page 3, you show the company's allowed common-equity ratio for every year since 1985.  And the data shows very few changes, and the company makes much of the fact that there's been no changes since 1985.  But would you accept that common-equity changes only occur rarely, and investors expect to see stability in the common-equity ratio?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I agree with that.


MR. JANIGAN:  And with respect to the Board's allowed ROE formula, the allowed ROE changes by 75 percent of the change in the long Canada rate.  Am I correct?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And, of course, EGDI's current debt costs change by 100 percent of the long Canada rate; is that correct?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  So the only thing that can change is the spread over the long Canada rate, and we have some evidence before the Board from Dr. Booth that the spreads have been pretty stable.


MR. BOYLE:  Sorry, I should clarify.  It's only the new debt that changes by the change in long Canadas.  If it's the old debt that we've issued it obviously is out there at old rates, and that's part of the problem; is that those rates are higher than the current rate that the ROE is based on.  So as I indicated, you're repricing your entire earnings based on current rates but you're not repricing all your debt.  You're only able to reprice your new debt that is issued going forward.  And that's causing the challenge that you're squeezing your EBIT interest coverage by repricing your earnings but not repricing all your debt.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But in general terms, EGDI's debt costs have dropped faster than its allowed ROE.  Am I correct?


MR. BOYLE:  No, that's not the case.  Well, it depends on what’s happening with the corporate spread as well.  There may be some offsetting factors.  I mean, all else being equal, though, you're correct that if the lower Government of Canada bond is in place, then the debt cost will be lower for the new debt because they're based on that lower Government of Canada bond, yes, I agree with that part.


MR. JANIGAN:  So in effect, if EGDI was out financing all its debt at current rates, its interest coverage ratio would increase as long as long Canada interest rates drop; am I correct?  


MR. BOYLE:  Correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in VECC Interrogatory No. 24.  I'm sorry, it should be 52.  I've got the tab and number mixed up.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I've got that.


MR. JANIGAN:  In the answer to (c) of VECC's interrogatory, it's indicated that:

"If all debt could be repriced at current market rates and the ROE formula was applied whereby the allowed ROE changed by 75 percent of the change in forecast long-term interest rates, and interest rates declined, the EBIT times interest coverage would mathematically increase.  Similarly, if interest rates increased the EBIT times interest coverage would decrease."


That's precisely what we just discussed?


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, Dr. Booth in his evidence calls this interest coverage restriction calculation a "marginal" interest coverage restriction since it reflects the interest coverage restriction resulting from capital expansion in current capital market conditions.


Would you agree with that?


MR. BOYLE:  I don't know if I would call it marginal, but basically, the issue is that, as we've noted here, that you can't reprice all your debt even though you are required to reprice all your earnings, and that's caused the challenge.  If you could reprice all your debt, then you would be fine from a credit quality standpoint or an interest coverage standpoint, but the fact is, in reality we can't reprice all that debt at the same time we're repricing our earnings through the ROE formula and the lower interest rates associated with that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Well, and looking at the position that you presented before the Board as a kind of squeeze, the problems with the actual interest coverage ratio in the current market access are a result of three things.


One, the effect of the high embedded debt costs, would you agree with that?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Secondly, the effect of weather?


MR. BOYLE:  That is an element, but even on a normalized basis, as we saw from the earlier table, there is a definite decline, and that's the bigger problem, is that base level that you've got as the interest coverage is declining to very low levels for the credit quality that we think is appropriate for the company.


MR. JANIGAN:  And just on the topic of weather, as I as I recall, Dr. Carpenter, you indicated that there were ways in which the equity holders can diversify to eliminate weather risk.  Am I correct on that?


DR. CARPENTER:  Yes.  Again, from an equity holder's perspective, that is totally distinct from this issue of credit quality and the effect of weather on credit quality.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, so when we're talking about weather risk, we're looking at, effectively, problems associated with debt?


DR. CARPENTER:  Correct.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, as well, and this is something I understand my friend Mr. Thompson will be exploring, would you agree with me that, in fact, one of the reasons for the current difficulty are overpayments to affiliates reducing EBIT?


MR. BOYLE:  No, I would not agree with that because there are some other factors which are non-utility-related at the legal entity level that -- some are what I would call reducing the interest coverage and some would be increasing the interest coverage.  And the net effect of those is actually very neutral.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. BOYLE:  So it's not the non-utility factors that are causing the problem, it's the core utility numbers that are causing the concern that I have in that regard.


MR. JANIGAN:  I'll leave it to Mr. Thompson to explore that with you.


But do you think that the Board should increase the common-equity ratio because of random deviations of the weather from normal?


MR. BOYLE:  If those are significant and causing increased volatility, then, yes, that is a factor that causes the need for increased equity thickness, in addition to the base level that you're starting from, that is the most important factor, the base level you're starting from, but weather is certainly something that needs to be taken into account in addition to that, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Wouldn't the averaging over 21 months in the interest coverage ratio calculation smooth out these difficulties?


MR. BOYLE:  Sorry, the 21-month?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. BOYLE:  Not...


MR. JANIGAN:  In the interest coverage ratio calculation, you can average it over a 21-month period.  Doesn't that...


MR. BOYLE:  No, I think what you're referring to is in the trust indenture covenant, the two-times coverage test can be determined by picking any 12 consecutive months out of the last 23 months, and that does allow you to try ask avoid one-time events, but if there are repeated issues like weather that are causing repeated lower coverages, then that will cause you to have a lower ratio and not meet your trust indenture covenant.  So there is provision in the trust indenture covenant that allows some flexibility in that it's not your last 12 months, which could, as I said, have some unusual one-time items; but there are still issues that are significant that are causing us problems, and weather is one of those.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is the trust indenture covenant confidential document?


MR. BOYLE:  No, the trust indenture is filed, in this case, at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 49, the attachment thereto.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thanks very much.


Now, I want to deal with the differences between the embedded interest costs of the debt and the costs of ROE to ratepayers.


Currently the high embedded interest costs are paid by the ratepayers; am I correct?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, they are.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the current allowed ROE is approximately 8.4 percent, as I understand?


MR. BOYLE:  That for 2007, I believe, is 8.39 percent, that is correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And ratepayers pay actually the pre‑tax costs; am I correct on that?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, they do.


MR. JANIGAN:  So if you're assuming a 36 percent tax rate, the pre‑tax equity cost is about 13.125 percent?


MR. BOYLE:  Sorry, 13.1 percent, roughly?


MR. JANIGAN:  We have 13 point ‑‑ yes, that's fine.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the pre‑tax debt cost is -- if we take a look at the most recent offering, is 4.77 percent; am I correct?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  So because of the high embedded debt costs, you're asking for more common equity, and every dollar that we shift from debt into common equity will cost the ratepayers a difference of about 8.4 percent, probably 8.3 percent with the 13.1 number?


MR. BOYLE:  In the short term that's correct, but as I indicated, in the longer term, as that increased cost moves throughout your entire debt base, that cost will increase over the long run.  Our view is that it is actually cheaper to increase your equity thickness than it is to incur the higher costs of debt that would be in place on that entire debt portfolio over time.


MR. JANIGAN:  I mean, is there any analysis that compares the increased costs associated with the kind of scenario that you've developed with the costs associated with having an increased equity portion?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.  There is an interrogatory.  I'll just be a moment to refer to that.


If you look at Exhibit I, tab 24, schedule 79, page 1 of 1.  Now, this is in respect of an interrogatory request with respect to preferred shares, but what this shows is, for example, for a preferred share offering, depending on the term of the capital, if you had to issue preferred shares instead of long‑term debt, the cost rate difference on an annual basis would be, in the case of a 100 million issuance in this case, shown on the second line from the bottom of that table, 1.9 million a year for a five‑year or $2 million a year for a ten‑year.  


But as I indicated, you need to look at that over the life cycle of the debt, and so if you multiply that by the term of the debt, the 9.5 million or 20 million you see in the bottom of that table, that would suggest that's your total cost that you're incurring.  And in exchange for that, if you will, you could increase the equity thickness to avoid that, and that would cost approximately $10 million, as shown in the Exhibit A2, which I referred to in my evidence-in‑chief.


So while the one‑year effect would appear to be less expensive, the 1.9 million or the 2 million, the cumulative effect over time is actually greater than the increased equity thickness that would be required.


And if you do this each year and incur that same phenomenon, you end up with a higher cost of capital overall by issuing these alternative forms of capital, rather than increasing the equity thickness.


MR. JANIGAN:  So just to be clear on this, in Interrogatory No. 79, the cost difference of 9.5 million or 20 million, that's -- to get the annual figure, you divide that by five or by ten, the bottom figure?


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the annual figure for ‑‑ the annual cost associated with the increase in equity from 35 to 38 percent, what's the annual cost of that to the ratepayers?


MR. BOYLE:  That's about $10 million on a pre‑tax basis, as indicated in the prefiled ‑‑ sorry, in the evidence at Exhibit A2.


MR. JANIGAN:  So it would be 100 million if we looked at a ten‑year projection versus the 20 million; is that what you're saying?


MR. BOYLE:  It would be, but the point is that every year you're going to have that same issue on the other form of capital.  So you're going to have new capital in 2008 or 2009 that's going to cause the same phenomenon on the issue in that period.  So, basically, you are ‑‑ you need to add up both sides as you go, over time.  And based on our experience, it is less costly to actually increase your equity thickness. 


And another way to look at that, perhaps, is to look at what other utilities are doing at the parent level.  For example, Enbridge Inc. and TransCanada are two examples where both those entities have been increasing their equity thickness over time, because they have realized and we've realized, that it's cheaper to actually increase your equity thickness and maintain or improve your credit quality than it is to have your credit quality deteriorate, and incur, over the long term - and I stress this is over the long term - the higher costs of the weaker credit profile.


In the very short term, I would agree with you that the cost is cheaper for the alternative form of capital than the increased equity thickness, but that is a very short‑term decision that is not, in my submission, in the best interests of the company or the customer in the long term.


In the short term, no one would ever issue equity because it is more expensive in the short term.  It's the long term you need to look at to assess your decision.


MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Boyle, isn't this a short‑term problem?


MR. BOYLE:  I do not believe so, because we've seen this phenomenon occur for a number of years now.


Now, it is possible that it could turn out to be just a short-term issue if interest rates actually go up significantly for us, which would be good from an overall credit profile perspective, because you would be repricing your -- your equity at the higher ROE, but you would only be repricing part of your debt.


So the best solution from that standpoint would be actually higher interest rates.


Now, unfortunately, that would have an adverse effect, ultimately, on customer rates, but it would be good for interest coverage.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, if we turn up 77, Interrogatory No. 77, and look at -- that's VECC Interrogatory No. 77, and look at the debt that's coming due, there is March 2009, $150 million at 11.26 percent.  And when that's replaced at the current 4.77 percent, assuming that it's roughly comparable, the embedded debt cost will fall; am I correct?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, you're correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And when the embedded cost falls, the interest coverage ratio increases and EGDI is more able to issue medium-term notes, is it not?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, it is; that’s correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, on page 3 of this interrogatory, EGDI was asked to trace out the interest coverage ratio that results as these high-cost debt issues were replaced at market rates.


MR. BOYLE:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the current 2.07 is based on the allowed ROE increases to 2.28 -- I'm sorry, based on the current ROE.  And that will increase in five years' time to 2.28.  Am I correct?


MR. BOYLE:  That assumes that interest rates will remain stable over that period.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah.


MR. BOYLE:  But that's not necessarily going to happen, and that's why we need to consider alternative scenarios.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, in this circumstance, though, with high embedded debt costs being retired and interest rates staying roughly in that, in that range, the problem goes away in four or five years.


MR. BOYLE:  Again, if interest rates remain stable; if interest rates actually decline, we will don't have this problem, and it will get worse, actually, not better.  If interest rates remain stable, then you're right, it will improve in this scenario, but again, you're still not necessarily going to have cheaper costs on an all-in basis.  You will have stronger interest coverage, though, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Do you have any capital markets evidence forecasting the interest rates in this case?


MR. BOYLE:  We only have an interest rate forecast out to 2007, I believe, at this point in the rate case.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, effectively, if the scenario played out as per Interrogatory No. 77, are you saying that in 2011 you would be knocking on the door to reduce the equity thickness from 38 percent back to 35 percent again?  


MR. BOYLE:  I don't know.  It would depend on the circumstances at that time and the overall market environment and credit quality.  It's possible, but we still find that it’s still cheaper to maintain the equity thickness at a higher level.  And that's what the industry is finding out at this point in time, that it is important to maintain that credit quality and it may be cheaper actually to have thicker equity than to have thinner equity on an all-in basis.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, Mr. Boyle, you indicated that on a  going-forward basis and taking a long-term view, you would want to increase the equity to 38 percent.  Well, effectively, if circumstances arose that the interest coverage ratio was reduced, we're not going to go back and get an automatic reduction back down to 35 percent again.  We're going to be stuck with the 38 percent ratio paying the additional money, while you have the interest coverage ratios that enable you to issue short and medium-term notes.  Where's the fairness in that?


MR. BOYLE:  I think the issue, Mr. Janigan, is that it actually may be cheaper to have the higher equity thickness because, while you will be refinancing your debt at lower interest rates, they may even be further lowered because of the high credit quality than they otherwise would be.  Even though they're still lower, it may be better off to increase equity thickness and have a lower long-term cost of debt on all your debt as opposed to just the debt that would be refinanced.


And again, that's my point.  That's what a lot of companies and utilities are discovering, is that it's actually cheaper to have the higher equity thickness, and you have a greater savings in your debt costs than you otherwise would have.


Now, it still results in a stronger EBIT coverage, yes, I agree with that.  And maybe even stronger than that.  And that's what you need to look at, the long term, not the short term.


MR. JANIGAN:  When you're saying cheaper, are you assuming that there's greater benefits for the shareholder or greater benefits for the ratepayer?


MR. BOYLE:  They would all be ratepayer benefits.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, a higher embedded debt cost doesn't affect the common shareholder; isn't that correct?  It's just -- it's a pass-through, just like natural gas costs?


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And if common equity is increased, EGDI's net income goes up and the shareholders benefit?


MR. BOYLE:  The earnings go up.  I would not say the shareholder benefits, because the shareholders are simply getting their allowed return on equity, and what is deemed to be a fair return on equity.


In fact, the shareholder may have alternative uses of that equity capital, and to be blunt, I had to pitch this to Enbridge that it is important to put in the extra equity to maintain the credit quality of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  It's not necessarily the best use of equity capital for the shareholder but it's important to maintain that credit quality for the company and for the ratepayers, and ultimately the integrity of the utility.


MR. JANIGAN:  So, and what you're saying on a long-term that the reduced spreads on debt are going to make up for this 8.4 percent increase that's associated with financing by way of equity rather than debt?


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.  On a life-cycle basis, that's what we're discovering.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Janigan, is this a convenient time to break for lunch?


MR. JANIGAN:  Um...


MR. KAISER:  How much more do you have?


MR. JANIGAN:  I have, I think, possibly one more question, I think.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. JANIGAN:  If I can turn you to VECC 79.  And this is the one you referred to earlier, where you made cost comparisons between preferred shares and swapped commercial paper with a medium-term note at issue?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I've got that.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the preferred shares comparison makes preferreds 1.875 more expensive?


MR. BOYLE:  For five years on a pre-tax basis, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now where did the 4.50 percent come from?  Was this a five-year rate?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, it is.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And in VECC 81, you were asked to compare a swapped commercial paper and MTNs and came up with a cost difference of .25 to .50 percent; is that correct?


MR. BOYLE:  Yes, that would be the higher cost of issuing a swapped commercial paper versus a traditional medium-term note.


MR. JANIGAN:  That seems like a very low cost.


MR. BOYLE:  It is.  It is a more efficient way.  I would certainly suggest that I'd prefer to do that rather than issue preferred shares.  In the current market environment, preferred shares are not a cost-effective form of capital for utilities.  And that's why you see utilities actually redeeming the preferred shares as opposed to issuing them.  So --


MR. JANIGAN:  In this case, the interest rate swap of the commercial paper works in the same way as a hedging instrument, to manage the interest rate, in the same way as you manage the hedge to fix the MTN costs?


MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Those are all my questions for this panel.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  We'll come back in an hour.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, if I may, I did just want to clarify.  I believe all parties are aware of this.  I think the intention is that this panel would stand down until tomorrow morning, and the next panel would start and go as long as it can this afternoon.


MR. KAISER:  That's our understanding.


[The panel stands down]


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:37 p.m.


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 1:39 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


As you know, this next panel will be dealing with opportunity development and fuel switching, and I should note for the record that the evidence ‑‑ the prefiled evidence for this panel is found at D1, tab 8, schedule 1.


Perhaps I could ask Mr. Quesnelle for the panel to be sworn.  Mr. Ryckman has already been sworn.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 6


Norm Ryckman; Previously Sworn


Paul Green; Sworn


Susan Clinesmith; Sworn


Patricia Squires; Sworn


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle.


If I could start by introducing the panel, Mr. Chair.  Closest to the north windows is Susan Clinesmith, manager,  business markets development; and to her right is Paul Green, director, market development.  


To Mr. Green's right is Patricia Squires, manager, residential markets development.  And, finally, to the far right, you will recall Mr. Norm Ryckman, who's director, business intelligence and support.


Perhaps I could turn to you, Mr. Ryckman, and ask you, on behalf of the panel, whether the prefiled evidence that was filed in this proceeding and the answers to various interrogatories asked by the intervenors was prepared under the direction and the supervision of members of this panel.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes, it was.


MR. O'LEARY:  And do you, on behalf of the panel, adopt that for the purposes of your testimony in this proceeding?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes, I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Just several brief questions, perhaps starting with you, Mr. Green.  Could you please provide a brief overview of the activities of the opportunity development department.


MR. GREEN:  Yes, I could, Mr. O'Leary.  I think there's been some overviews provided in previous proceedings, but, if I could, I'll try to summarize some of those comments.


The opportunity development's principal mandate is the design and the coordination, delivery and evaluation of cost‑effective technologies and programs that add or retain natural gas system loads.


Opportunity development also has responsibility for managing the company's gas supply requirements.  This includes managing required upstream load capacity or load‑balancing services storage and other ancillary services, as well as ensuring that sufficient system gas commodity supplies are secured.


The company pursues technology and market development activities because they help to sustain the competitive position of natural gas in the energy marketplace, lowering overall costs to ratepayers.  


As the consistent advocate for natural gas technology in the market, the company actively intervenes to mitigate the risks of declining average uses and the erosion of natural gas market share, balancing programs designed to encourage conservation and overall energy sustainability with the development of new natural gas technology and applications.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Mr. Ryckman, I note that in the prefiled evidence which was filed, the company was applying for an overall O&M budget, which included NGV and fuel switching, and that the opportunity development budget in that prefiled evidence was 30.8 million.  And that was based upon an O&M budget which has been described in the settlement agreement as other O&M, which totalled in the prefiled evidence a total of 200.8 million.


Under the settlement agreement, which the Board has approved, this has been reduced to 181.5 million.


Could you please describe to the Board what you anticipate will be the impact of the company agreeing to this other O&M budget of 181.5 million, from the standpoint of the opportunity development department's budget.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  The company will now have to consider how the other O&M budget will be allocated amongst departments, and also on the priorities of some of the planned activities.


So it stands to reason that most, if not all, departments will have to eliminate or limit some activities as a result of the settlement proposal.


While a final budget has not been determined, it stands to reason that opportunity development will have something less than 30.8 million to work with.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Ryckman.  And could you please advise as to whether the company has a view as to the importance of it having flexibility to allocate spending as between its various departments during the test year, and, if so, why.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  The company must maintain flexibility to allocate its budgets within the envelope.  We're obligated to provide reliable and safe natural gas distribution and distribution system, and we must be able to respond to market changes, technical code requirements, and just as the market changes over the course of the year, we must maintain that flexibility.


There could be events that are outside of our control that we also have to work with, and we need to be able to respond to that.


MS. SQUIRES:  If I could add to that.  This is also true within the opportunity development budget itself, in that the department must have the flexibility to respond to changing market conditions, such as the withdrawal of channel partners or government funding for various initiatives, or the opposite; where new players enter the market or new government funds become available that can be added to our initiatives and our programs, which may allow the company to focus, to a greater or lesser extent, on a particular activity relative to what was originally planned.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Ms. Squires.


If I could turn to you, Mr. Green.  Could you advise to what extent, if any, are the fuel-switching activities of the company planned for 2007 different from those undertaken in the past.


MR. GREEN:  Yes, I could.  I think it's important for us to all understand that the company has always promoted fuel switching and other activities which promote a variety of burner-tip applications and load growth.


The market development group's principal mandate certainly supports the overarching philosophy of the opportunity development group, as I've mentioned earlier, where we're talking about that design, coordination, the delivery and the valuation of those cost‑effective technologies and programs that add or retain the natural gas loads.


The company, through program development and implementation, I think we've said in many cases before, really advocates wise and effective use of natural-gas technology, certainly involving numerous burner-tip applications, and that's across all market disciplines.  


The group actively intervenes to mitigate those risks, as I've mentioned, about declining average uses and any erosion of natural gas market share in balancing those programs.


A critical focus for the market development group is load retention.  Lost market share and the resulting erosion of load leads to potential higher rates, and this can put additional competitive pressure on the company.


To the company's knowledge, all stakeholders have accepted that an increase in throughput or load factor, if you will, will have a beneficial impact on rates from a ratepayers' perspective over time, and for this reason the company has pursued opportunity development initiatives for decades.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Green, if the company has been pursuing such activities for the time span that you have indicated, what is the company's view as to why fuel switching has been raised as an issue in this proceeding?


MR. GREEN:  Well, again, I think I would characterize it in the fact that fuel switching per se is not a new initiative to the company.  I think we're in an energy environment today that has been accentuated with the current electricity infrastructure situation and the cause of concern for generation, transmission and distribution, but to Enbridge fuel switching is not really new.


However, given recent changes in government policy, the company is considering directing additional sums towards such activities in the amount that was set out in the prefiled evidence in this proceeding contemplating, directing up to an additional $5 million towards load growth and fuel-switching initiatives.


However, with the settlement, this number will undoubtedly be impacted.  

The settlement with the ratepayer groups, if you will, of the other O&M envelope of 181.5 million is the level of spending that the ratepayer groups are prepared to accept, and this reflects the balance between short-term rate impacts which are clearly important to ratepayers, and the demand by some groups to spend more on, for example, fuel switching initiatives.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Green.  Mr. Chair, that's our evidence-in-chief, and the panel is now open for cross-examination.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Mr. Poch?  Mr. Klippenstein.  


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I think based on discussion with the parties, I think there’s agreement that I proceed first.


And Mr. Chair, members of the panel, I'll be cross-examining on behalf of Pollution Probe.

Good afternoon, members of the panel.


Mr. Chair, I have prepared a copy of the documents I propose to refer to in my cross-examination for the convenience of the witness panel and Board Members, and I believe it's distributed and you probably have a copy before you.  And I distributed it to the witnesses.


I would ask that it be made an exhibit, subject to any concerns, and I don't know if -- my friend and I had a discussion about tab 2, and if my friend has some concerns, I would perhaps ask that the book be made an exhibit subject to tab 2, or, if he has no concerns, the whole book be an exhibit for convenience.


MR. KAISER:  Your friend, I take it, is Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  That's correct, Mr. Chair.  The concern is simply that a portion of tab 2 was not filed in the prefiled evidence and was, in fact, delivered to the panel just moments ago.  So I don't believe, and it's subject to confirming with the panel because we haven't had a chance to converse about it to any great extent, that this panel will be able to speak about any of the specifics in it.  I do not believe that they authored it or participated in it.  It would be pages 7, 8, 9 --


MR. KAISER:  Let me see if we can get a copy first while this discussion is going on.  Mr. Millar?  Sorry, Mr. O'Leary, I didn't mean to interrupt you, but let me see if we can follow this.


MR. O'LEARY:  If you go to tab 2, sir, the first several pages are out of the prefiled evidence, or at least they were in response to an interrogatory response, and that's the C line - you can barely see the title on it - but it's the C line, fuel-switching report.  And the first three pages of that are from the prefiled evidence.


Then there's a document on page 7 entitled:  "Written submission," and that continues for the next three pages.  And then page 10:  "Fuel-switching summary results."  And the concern I expressed to my friend is that the panel may not be able to speak to what’s in these materials given that the time they've been given to review them, and my belief that they are not the authors of the documents.


MR. KAISER:  What's the source of the document, Mr. Klippenstein?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  The document at tab 2, pages 7 to 10, is an Enbridge document which is a proposal to the Ontario Power Authority for a fuel-switching program, a fairly major one.  It's described in there, a five-year, fairly large-scale fuel-switching program.


I recall cross-examining on this on another Enbridge case, I believe, and it's certainly been made an exhibit in another proceeding.


I think, and I don't know whether I should get into this now or not, my friend Mr. Poch has just assisted me, I believe this has been made an exhibit in EB 2006-0021, Exhibit K3.2 at tab 9.  And I don't know, Mr. Chair, if you want me to address this now or later, but my purpose would be to compare the fuel-switching targets here with what this company plans to do now, and my hidden agenda, of course, is to show that the present budget is too small compared to what is here.  If my friend says this panel, these witnesses, don't know about this, then I propose to cross-examine on the basis that it's surprising that they don't know about it.  


Either way, my submission is that it's relevant and useful for this Board to have this as context; it's not a secret document, it's an Enbridge document.  It's directly relevant on the topic that I'm cross-examining on which is the fuel-switching budget and its adequacy.


There's no prejudice, in my submission, if these folks say, It's not our job to look at this, we don't know about this.  Then either I will probably ask the Board to draw an adverse inference about the lack of knowledge about this, or, secondly, I think I can reasonably cross-examine them about the details in this, whether they know about it or not.  It is their area of expertise, and I can ask them to comment on it, would be my submission.


MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. O'Leary, it does seem to me that it is an Enbridge document, a submission to the OPA on this topic.  If this particular panel doesn't have knowledge it for some reason, they can say so and we'll go from there.


MR. O'LEARY:  And that's fine, sir.  I simply wanted to identify that they may not know the particulars of the reason why the submission was made, and they may not have first-hand information about the calculations on the fourth page of that document.  And I'm not denying that it may have been an Enbridge submission, just that this panel has not briefed itself on this document for the purpose of the testimony here today.


But in terms of drawing an adverse inference, I would respectfully suggest that's inappropriate, given the fact the panel's only just been provided with the document.  Surely they should be afforded an opportunity to review it and perhaps take it up with those that did it make the submission to be able to respond to questions without fear of an adverse inference.


MR. KAISER:  Well, we'll take it step by step.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, sir. 


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, can we give this a document number, Mr. Klippenstein?  It will be K6.3.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


EXHIBIT NO. K6.3:  POLLUTION PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION 


REFERENCE BOOK


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Klippenstein:

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Members of the witness panel, I propose, I think, to question you about approximately five topics:  first of all, certain fuel-switching programs in your evidence which appear to be non-cost-effective; and secondly, putting this fuel-switching program or budget in context, and that's where the document we just looked at comes up.  Thirdly, fuel switching input assumptions and auditing.  Fourthly, new gas technologies.  And fifthly, distributed generation.


And so that's an overview of the topics that I have proposed to discuss.


If you could take the Pollution Probe cross-examination reference book, which is Exhibit K6.3, and turn to tab 1, which is the response to Board Staff Interrogatory No.25, and turn to page 3 of that, which is page 3 of the original document and page 3 of the document that you have before you.


This table 1 on page 3 is called "regulatory budget."  Do you have that?  And I don't know who to address my questions to, so I'll let you figure that one out, if that's okay.  Did you have that table 1 called, "Regulatory budget"?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, we do.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And column 1 gives the names of the fuel switching programs.  And column 9 gives us the forecast number for the total resource cost net benefits.  Is that right?


MS. SQUIRES:  That's correct.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So if I want to look at a particular program, I'll look at the name in column 1 and go to column 9 to see the net TRC benefits; right? 


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And I want to go through a couple of programs which appear to have a negative TRC number or a negative net benefit.  Would you agree with me -- well, first of all, if you look at the left-hand column, number 2, the program ECM, which we've underlined, do you say that?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And move over to column 9, there's a figure of, in brackets .54; is that right?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.  That's right.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And I conclude that that program has a negative TCC benefit of 540,000; am I right so far?  MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Right.  And that means that the economic benefits of that program, generally speaking, are less than the cost; is that right?


MS. SQUIRES:  From a societal perspective; that's correct.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  From the total resource cost perspective.


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Correct?  Okay.  And what is the ECM program?


MS. SQUIRES:  ECM stands for electronically commutated motors, which is something that is included on some high-efficiency gas furnaces, which increases the efficiency of the motor on the furnace, which saves electric load for the operation of that furnace.  And there is an incremental additional gas consumption by the addition of the ECM.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So the overall benefit of that program on a TRC test is negative?


MS. SQUIRES:  In this scenario, it is.  This is a TRC from a program perspective, instead of what you sometimes might see as a measure perspective, the difference being that this particular program has some assumptions about program costs and how it's going to be delivered.


And in this particular scenario, it is negative from a TRC standpoint.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And so there may be other scenarios in the background that we don't see in the evidence, but the scenario you're presenting to the Board is this one with this net negative TRC?


MS. SQUIRES:  That's right.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Next program on the list is number 4, the fireplace program.  And if I look at the table and go across, that has a net TRC benefit figure of negative 6.12, which means negative 6,120,000; right?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  And what does that fireplace program do, very generally?


MS. SQUIRES:  Excuse me a moment while I look up something.  That program involves the promotion of natural-gas fireplaces.  The way the program is currently structured, there would be no incentive offerings, so it would be predominantly point-of-purchase marketing and promotional material to promote the adoption of natural gas fireplaces.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  And the next program I've got underlined on that table in the left‑hand column is called "grill/BBQ", and that has a net negative TRC of 180,000, when I look at column 9; is that right?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And what does that program do?


MS. SQUIRES:  It's very similar to the fireplace program.  Again, I don't believe there's any incentive offerings planned for that particular promotional activity, but, again, it would be point-of-purchase material; it would be working with retailers to do possible training of sales staff to encourage the sale and the adoption of natural gas grills and BBQs.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Next program I'd like to highlight or I have highlighted on the table there, in column 1, number 12, "outdoor living/garage heating/pool heating", and that, when I look to column 9, has a TRC net benefit figure of negative $1.11 million; is that right?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And what does that do?


MS. SQUIRES:  The exact same promotional activities that I've already described for fireplaces and grills.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And so that would have ‑‑ that would be promoting garage heating through natural gas?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Pool heating through natural gas?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And am I right in guessing that it includes things like gas‑fired patio heaters?


MS. SQUIRES:  Possibly, yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Now, the obvious question that I put to you, after having reviewed these various programs with a net negative TRC, is that it appears to me that Enbridge is requesting its ratepayers to pay for fuel-switching programs that fail this cost‑effective TRC test, and I'm just wondering what ‑‑ how you can justify that.


MS. SQUIRES:  Well, the company actually does not use the TRC as a hurdle, a screen, that determines whether or not we pursue load-growth activities.  The total resource cost test is a screen that has been used traditionally and historically for the DSM programs, and that's where that test was derived and why that test was adopted by the company back in 1995, for the DSM portfolio.


The company looks at the NPV as its primary hurdle and screening for helping us decide whether or not to pursue a program.  And we also consider other factors, such as some non‑economic factors such as customer comfort issues, things that we hear about through consumer research and trends that we see in consumer demand that we believe we are responding to.


So the TRC is a measure that has been asked for, which we've provided, but it's not our primary screen.


MR. RYCKMAN:  And if I could just add to that.  If you look at the column 8, the NPV of those measures, you'll see that they're positive.  So when you're talking about a ratepayer impact, I think it's incorrect to characterize it as ratepayers would have to pay for this.  


I think from the societal perspective, that individuals who want to install a natural gas fireplace - and the majority of these are in situations where there isn't a fireplace existing - should have the opportunity to do that and that they pay for that gas consumption and those fireplaces as appropriate.


If you look at it from a ratepayer's perspective, I think you've got to take into account the NPV calculation in column 8.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, I'm not going to get into an interminable replay of the various TRC discussions over the years, but, I take it, Mr. Ryckman, your answer doesn't change the TRC calculations in column 9?


MR. RYCKMAN:  It does not change the TRC calculations in column 9.  It's just my position is that's not the appropriate screening when we're looking at added load programs.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you.  I'd like to ask ‑‑ I guess this is topic 1A.  I just thought of another topic, and that is the overall actual purpose of this budget, I mean, in terms of, is this a commitment or a highball figure or what?  


If I look at column number 5, it's labelled "Program Costs."  That's effectively the budget for the individual fuel-switching programs; is that fair?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. RYCKMAN:  That was the proposed budget as in the prefiled evidence, so the actual budgets for those will be different, once we do that realignment of the budgets.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.


Now, the total program costs for the residential fuel-switching programs that we see here, in other words, going down to line -- just below line 13, in column 5, I have a total program cost for residential fuel-switching programs, according to the prefiled evidence, of $3,029,788; is that right?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And I've totalled up the various figures in column 9 that are negative - in other words, the programs that don't pass the TRC test - and I've added them up, subtracted that total from the figure of 3‑plus million that I've just given you, and I'm going to suggest to you - perhaps you can take this subject to check - is that the total programs cost of those residential programs which do pass the TRC test is $2,668,208, which is the 3 million minus the various negatives that I went through before.


Can you take that, subject to check?


MS. SQUIRES:  Sure, without having done the math, but subject to check.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.


MS. SQUIRES:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the number again, please?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  It's $2,668,208, that being the total in column 9 for the residential programs, minus those programs that have a net minus TRC.


Then dropping to the second lower half of that table, business market figures.  I see in column 5 the total you've got there for the total program cost of your business market fuel-switching programs is $473,213; do you see that?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, I do.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, looking at those two figures, the 2.6 million, approximately, that I put to you representing the proposed positive TRC residential programs, and the 473,000 that are the business fuel-switching programs; what exactly does that mean?  


Does that mean ‑‑ let's just look at the business figure, for example.  Does that mean that you are telling this Board that you will spend at least 473,213 on those programs, and that you will spend at least 2.6 million, using the figure I've adjusted, on residential programs, subject to adjustments from the ADR total figure?


In other words, is this a promise or a commitment to spend that much, or are you just asking for approval for that much if you feel like it?  I'm being a little colloquial, forgive me.  Hopefully you'll know what I mean.


MR. RYCKMAN:  The budget that was proposed is an amount that we felt was appropriate and that we could spend  responsibly and accomplish the results that are laid out here.  But you're correct in that that was the prefiled amount, and it is subject to change based on those readjustments of the budgets.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ryckman - I wonder if I can interrupt, Mr. Klippenstein - program number 7 accounts for about a third of this.  There there's a positive TRC of 380,000 but a negative net present value.  Same question that Mr. Klippenstein had.  Are you going to spend this money on that program regardless of the fact that it has a net -- a negative net present value?


MR. RYCKMAN:  The plan was that we would proceed with that.  That is a low-income program, and Ms. Squires can speak to the details.  But we were anticipating going forward with that program.


MR. KAISER:  So what does it mean when you said, as you said earlier, and maybe it was Mrs. Squires, that the test is not TRC but NPV?  How negative do you have to be before you drop it?


MS. SQUIRES:  Well, I don't think there is a magic -- well, there isn't a magic cut-off point where we drop it.


In this particular case, as we explored in detail in the DSM proceeding last summer, the low-income sector in particular, we recognize, faces certain barriers in the market that other consumers don't necessarily, which leads us to perhaps focussing a bit more energy there where we might not otherwise do so.


So we were willing to accept a slightly negative NPV on that program, recognizing that the portfolio is still strongly positive.  We were willing to accept a slightly negative reading on one program in particular.


MR. KAISER:  And what exactly does the NPV measure?


MR. RYCKMAN:  The NPV is looking at the distribution margin associated with that program over the life of the measure against the cost.


One of the things that I will point out in this analysis as well is, what we're looking at is a snapshot of one year of activity.  So this is the 2007 activity, it assumes that you don't do anything out after that point.  So those are the costs and the benefits associated with that one-year snapshot of activity.


MR. KAISER:  Now, is that to say if you used a longer term, it might have a positive NPV?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, the term is based on the life expectancy of the equipment, so in a water heater program, for instance, we've got the life of the measures in column 4 there.  And those would be consistent with what we use in DSM as well.


So for residential -- for low-income water heating, for instance, you've got a measure life of nine years.  So we're assuming nine years of revenue.


Now, that doesn't take into account the likelihood that at the end of nine years, a customer might, by all means, reinstall a natural gas water heater again.  It could be unlikely to actually remove the natural gas and put in electric.  So it doesn't take that into account.  It's just looking at 2007, we add that water heater and it's attached for the next nine years.


MR. KAISER:  Is that what’s behind program 7?  Does this have something to do with water heaters or what does it have to do with?


MS. SQUIRES:  It does, in fact.  The proposal for the low-income program is to convert electric water heaters to gas water heaters.  And just to give you an understanding of why there would be a difference between the TRC and the NPV.  The assumption with any low-income program is that the incentive amount would likely have to be a considerably higher number than it would otherwise be in the market at large, almost 100 percent if not 100 percent of the incremental costs would have to be borne by the utility.


And incentive amounts are not reflected in the TRC, they're considered a pass-through.  So you could basically be giving away equipment and the cost of those incentive amounts would not be captured by the TRC.  But it is in the NPV.


MR. KAISER:  And the negative NPV means you spend 925,000 on this water-heater program and the amount of revenue that you're going to recover is going to be something less than that.


MS. SQUIRES:  That's right.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, for that clarification.


Mr. Ryckman, or other members of the panel, I was also beginning to question, about, if you will, the difference between the company saying it will spend this on fuel switching or it could spend, and I think Mr. Ryckman, you mentioned that these figures are what the company suggests to the Board it could spend responsibly on these fuel-switching programs.


Would Enbridge be opposed to the Board approving, and specifically, directing a number for your 2007 fuel-switching budget which would switch the "could spend possibly" to "should spend"?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Obviously, if the Board directs us, we'll have to respond to that directive.  But it should be noted that we are signatory to the settlement proposal that has another -- other O&M budget of 181.5 million, and we're in support of that agreement.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now -- okay.


What happens if the company gets approval for this fuel-switching figure and then, for whatever reason, does not actually spend that but the revenue, if you will, has already been approved.  I'm just wondering what happens to the difference.  And let me put it this way.


Pollution Probe would suggest that the Board should approve a specific minimum level of spending on fuel-switching programs in 2007, and that if Enbridge's actual spending is less than the Board level, the difference should be returned to the ratepayers through a variance account, as opposed to becoming profit to the shareholders.


Would Enbridge agree that such a proposal would be beneficial from a public-interest point of view?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I don't think you can isolate it just from a public-interest point of view.  You have to look at it from the company has to be able to manage its budget.  So we had another -- other O&M budget proposed of, I think it was, 200, 200.8.  In the settlement proposal we agreed to 181.5.  We're going to have to go back and look at our budgets, look at the activities, prioritize what has to be done.  And that may require that we limit some activity in this area.


We will have to limit activity in this area, and we need to maintain that flexibility.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, I understand you've agreed to an ADR figure at -- which Pollution Probe did not agree to.    And I understand you're committed to advocate to defend that proposal here now.  But, that aside -- and that's fair enough, but that aside -- from a public-interest point of view, would you agree that it's beneficial to have a specific Board-approved minimum and any less than that go to a variance account rather than as profits to the shareholders?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I don't support a variance account.  Once again, that gets into a level of micromanagement that places the company in a very difficult position when it has to address other things that are going on within the company.


We're not in a position where we would endorse that type of variance account.  Some of the difficulty that you can have is defining now what's in scope and what's out of scope of that variance account.  So there is operational issues that arise.  Mr. Green talked about the fact that fuel switching isn't something new; fuel switching is something that we've done every year for as long as I can recall.


So now, casting a net and saying this is what's in and this is what's out, it gets very muddy, very complicated, and I don't think it would be in the interests of the company to restrict itself in that regard.


We could have important safety issues that we have to pursue, and if we're locked in in this area and have that flexibility removed from us, that wouldn't be a good thing.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  You mentioned at one point in your answer the interests of the company.  My question specifically was a little different, and I think I've mentioned the phrase twice.


I'm asking, from the point of view of the public interest, and the point here is, a specified minimum that will be used for fuel switching or else.  It goes back to the ratepayers instead of becoming profit.


Now, from the public ‑‑ you've explained the company's point of view.  Fair enough.  From the public-interest point of view, do you see a problem with what I'm suggesting?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  I think the comment in the abstract is it's difficult for me to say, not knowing how it would actually work and how these things would unfold.  From a fuel-switching perspective, there can be benefits to society from alleviating some of that burden on the electric grid.


But, once again, it's an abstract statement that you're coming forth with, so I can't say with certainty how it would play out.


MS. SQUIRES:  If I could echo something that Norm mentioned in his response that really does directly respond to your question about public interest, and that is issues related to safety.


And we can't anticipate or predict what kind of market issues or challenges may come up in a given year for the company that may require it to communicate to customers about issues related to safety.  Actually, one issue that comes to mind is the B149 venting issue related to water heaters, which we recognize customers will have a number of questions about. 


If we are locked into a budget in any area that removes the company's flexibility to communicate to customers about an issue like that, that was unanticipated.  So preserving that flexibility is important from a customer's standpoint.


MR. RYCKMAN:  And from a public-interest standpoint.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  All right, thank you.  I'd like to change the focus a little bit for now.  If you could turn to tab 2 of the Pollution Probe document, Exhibit K6.3.


And there are two documents in this tab, as my friend Mr. O'Leary mentioned.  One is a couple of excerpted pages from a SeeLine Consultant's report done for Enbridge, and the second is or purports to be part of a written submission from Enbridge to the Ontario Power Authority in 2005.  


Let's take you step by step.  The SeeLine study, on its second page or the first page behind the cover and the introduction, which is page 5 of the document book, has a heading "1.0 Introduction."  Do you see that?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And this is ‑‑ now let me read the introduction, because I'm just going to ask you, as my friend raised, about what you know about this report and whether I can continue.  Right, this is filed by Enbridge, so there's no problem.  I'll just ask ‑‑ sorry, for that.


If you turn to ‑‑ well, first of all, this is an assessment of a proposed electric fuel-switching program; right?


MS. SQUIRES:  It's an assessment of a fuel-switching scenario.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  And in this assessment, if you turn the next page to page 3 of the exhibit, page 6 of the document book, there's a table 1A.  Do you see that?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And table 1A is a summary of the TRC results or this fuel-switching scenario; right?


MS. SQUIRES:  I believe there are two TRC analyses that are included in this, and that is one with low equipment life assumptions and one is with high equipment life assumptions, so table 1A is the low equipment life assumption summary.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Right.  And on the right‑hand column, headed "Total", in the bottom row headed "Total", we have a figure which is, I think, the net TRC benefits of this particular five‑year fuel‑switching program scenario, and that is a total TRC net benefit of 377 million, approximately; right?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And by the same table there is a column -- a row at the left headed "Program Costs."  Do you see that?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And the figure there is approximately $3 million, so the program costs of this five‑year fuel-switching program are about 3 million, I think?  Three million; correct?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Not including incentives.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That's correct.  And that's my next question, which is:  Two paragraphs down, I've underlined a figure which is the customer incentive cost of this fuel-switching program, which are large, being $305 million, right, approximately?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And you add up the 305 and the 3 million, and so you get a total cost to ratepayers of this fuel-switching program of 308 million; right?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And for this five‑year program, you take the average, divide the 308 by 5.  You get approximately $62 million per year for that program; right?


MS. SQUIRES:  I haven't done the math, but it sounds approximately correct.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Sounds about right, yes?


MR. RYCKMAN:  But that's an important point, as well, so what you would be doing is adding to rates approximately $60 million, a little over $60 million a year for over five years.  So when you look at the TRC results, the incentive amounts get netted out, so they're a cost to the utility and a benefit to society.  


So you could give 300 million, you could give 600 million, and you don't see that as a cost in the TRC test, but those incentives do flow through to rates.  And that was one of the points I was trying to make earlier.  When you look at an NPV analysis, you're looking at the benefits and the costs, and those costs would include incentive amounts.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, that may be, but I think you've agreed the total cost to ratepayers is that 308 million; right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  This is a scenario.  It's not a proposal.  If you were to move forward with this at the cost to the ratepayer, that would be correct.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, this was a scenario that was commissioned by Enbridge; correct?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  First of all; correct?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.  Yes, it was.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And are you aware of any critique of this study which calls into question the figures I've just gone through as a possibility for this particular scenario?


MS. SQUIRES:  I'm not aware of any formal documented critiques.  However, I would indicate that there are numerous assumptions built into this model, as there are in any model, that predicts the outcome of an investment like this.


But they are assumptions that I think are significant, for example, that being that this incentive level would result in this type of equipment take-up.  This is unprecedented, at least in our franchise area, this type of investment, and there's a lot of speculation involved in what sort of program take-up there would be.  So we have to be cautious of those assumptions.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Fair enough.  But let me just compare the scenario we've just walked through, in this study for Enbridge, with what we are looking at now.


Enbridge's total revenue requirement for 2007 that is being put forward to the Board for approval now is approximately $3 billion; is that fair?  Do you know?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I'm not aware what the total revenue requirement is.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Does that sound a reasonable amount?  Do you know?  Can you tell me if that is a reasonable approximation, to the best of your knowledge?


MR. RYCKMAN:  It sounds like a reasonable approximation, including commodity.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Let me take that reasonable approximation figure and just compare it to the annual cost to ratepayers that I've just extracted from the scenario here of about 62 million.


If I do the math on a $3 billion revenue requirement and compare the 62 million that this scenario has for annual ratepayer costs, I get that -- the 62 million as a fuel-switching budget cost would increase the revenue requirement by approximately 2 percent; in other words, 62 million is approximately 2 percent of 3 billion.  


Can you take that subject to check, or can you tell me if that's accurate?


MR. RYCKMAN:  That math seems to work, yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And just taking that as an example and weighing that, in such a fuel-switching program, an aggressive five‑year fuel-switching program as outlined here, by increasing Enbridge's distribution volumes, such a program would lead to a long-term reduction in your rates to the customers; that follows; is that fair?  Because fixed costs are spread over larger volumes.


MR. RYCKMAN:  All things being equal, that sounds reasonable, but I don't know whether you would need system upgrades or capacity changes, quite frankly.


MS. SQUIRES:  And I think, if I could add, there's another factor here that -- just getting back to the assumptions in this model.  This is done from the perspective of what would happen if Enbridge increased its budget to cover the costs of fuel switching without any consideration of what the impacts might be on other utilities, on other electric LDCs or, for that matter, on manufacturers of the equipment.  I couldn't say with any certainty that the manufacturers of ranges and dryers could take on that additional demand over the course of a year.  So that's another consideration.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Fair enough.  This is a broad-brush examination.


But let's look at that from a broad-brush perspective.  Would Enbridge believe that a $60 million increase in its 2007 fuel-switching budget would be in the public interest, given the scenario of possibilities that we just walked through?


MS. SQUIRES:  I would have to say no, from the standpoint that I question whether we could -- whether we currently have the resources, the staff, the expertise, and so on to actually increase to that extent in a short period of time.


And, getting to my earlier comment as well, I doubt whether the market infrastructure would be prepared to respond to that type of investment in short order as well.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  All right.  You've given four or so reasons and there's probably some others as well.  But my question was about a $60 million increase.  But let's divide that by four, again in the context of the scenario and the result in a study from Enbridge here.  Let's divide that by four, and let's take a proposed increase of 15 million in the 2007 fuel-switching budget.


Would that possibly be in the public interest?


MS. SQUIRES:  The 15 million number is, from my perspective, is a little bit more manageable than 62 million.  From the standpoint of what we would be equipped to handle internally.  But again, without going through some scenarios of how that would translate into programs and uses, without the investigation into what the market could support in terms of manufacturers and distributors, it would be premature for me to say whether that's doable.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, do you have an impression -- this is your area of expertise, collectively, and you've mentioned some of the issues in your mind, about whether the company would have the resources and staff and expertise, and whether the market infrastructure could respond.  But impressionistically, what would be a figure lower, let's say, than 15 million or higher than 15 million, that your experience-based intuition would say the company could probably handle as an increased budget?


MR. RYCKMAN:  The company came forward with a market development budget in the prefiled of roughly $9.1 million, and we felt that we could effectively spend that money, as I've stated before.  So we have assessed that, and we felt that that was reasonable.  Anything in excess of that we haven't analyzed, and don't know, with all of the things that Ms. Squires has said, we don't know what all the impacts would be.  And so I would say the ceiling is at 9.1, but again, we support the 181.5 that we've signed on to with the settlement proposal.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  All right.  Fair enough.  Thank you.


The next topic I wanted to cover, as I mentioned earlier, deals with fuel-switching input assumptions and evaluation and audit.


And if you could turn to tab 1, again, of the Pollution Probe document book, K6.3, and go to page 3 of the exhibit number.  This is the table 1 which I looked through before.


As we've already gone through, column 9 provides the TRC net benefits for each program.  Now, as I understand it, columns number 2 to number 6 provide some of the input assumptions for the TRC calculation; is that fair?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, I'm interested in the free rider rate assumptions that you used to calculate the TRC net benefits for fuel-switching programs.  What is the free rider rate assumption that's built into these columns?


MS. SQUIRES:  We have not calculated free rider rates for these programs.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  So that effectively means you're using a free rider rate assumption of zero percent; right?


MS. SQUIRES:  That's correct.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, in various hearings that's been a fairly contentious issue, about what would be a reasonable free rider rate assumption.  Do you have any studies to support or any analysis that supports the use of, essentially, a zero percent free rider rate assumption for these programs?


MS. SQUIRES:  Well, let me clarify one point first of all.


The debate and the discussion on free ridership, in my recollection, hasn't been in the proceedings related to O&M or growth programs, it has been strictly limited to the discussion related to demand-side management programs.  And again that's, in fact, where that concept, or that -- the free ridership term evolved.


We design our programs and we measure the results of our programs in such a way to minimize, over time, the impact of -- or to minimize, over time, the extent to which so-called free riders participate in the programs, and that gets to the flexibility that we're asking for in program design and in budget so that we can tweak as we go to minimize free ridership rates.


What we're trying to do is develop programs that are actually influencing customers to make decisions to go gas in this case, and we want to spend our money cost-effectively.


In a growth scenario, as opposed to a DSM scenario, the built-in mechanism that tells us whether we're successful or not is the increase in market share and the growth in our revenue that result from our program, and if we don't see those results, then clearly we're not being as effective in our program design, and we accordingly make changes.



MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Would you agree with me that the basic concept of the free rider is applicable to a fuel-switching program in the same way that it is to a DSM program, logically, which is basically somebody who would have adopted the measure or the fuel switching anyway and therefore is not responding to the money spent on your program?  Logically, the same analysis applies; is that fair?


MS. SQUIRES:  I would say that’s fair, yeah.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.


MR. RYCKMAN:  It should be noted as well, when we talk about free riders, on the DSM side of the equation, one of the things that has never been included when we looked at free riders is spill-over effects.  So those are people who may not participate in the program, but actually undertake the measures and go forth, in this case it would be with added load, so there's awareness that's built through the program.  And there could be people participating in these appliance installations outside of the program, but as a result of the awareness that's created.


So, two things.  First of all, we don't have any studies to indicate what free rider rates would be with these programs, so there is no studies that we have to support zero, nor is there any to refute it.


In addition, you have to look at spill-over effects.  You can't just look at the things, the negative components; you need to look at the total impact of the programs and the awareness that's created through these things.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yeah, thank you.


But let me just reflect for a moment on a couple of the aspects of the DSM program procedures that might, I would suggest, be applicable to free riders in the fuel-switching concept -- or context.


In Enbridge's DSM programs at the end of each year, the program is subject to an evaluation report which calculates the actual TRC net benefits that were produced by the program.  Is that fair?  In other words --


MR. RYCKMAN:  That is fair.  On the DSM side, we do that calculation for purposes of calculating the shareholder ‑‑ the SSM, the shareholder incentive.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And what that does, it looks at the results at the end of the year, based on actuals?  That's what it does?


MR. RYCKMAN:  That's fair.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And then that evaluation report is audited by an independent auditor; right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And in addition, and throughout this process, there's an evaluation and audit advisory committee, consisting of intervenors, that assists Enbridge with the evaluation and auditing of the program; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, Pollution Probe will probably suggest that the 2007 fuel-switching programs should be subjected to the same type of evaluation and auditing process that the DSM programs are subject to, as I've just asked you about, and, also, that the evaluation and audit advisory committee should similarly look or assist with fuel-switching programs.  


Do you have any reaction to that proposal?  Would Enbridge be opposed to that idea?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I don't know why you would want to bring that level of activity to these particular programs.  When you look at why it's ‑‑ the genesis of that process on the DSM side, it was because of the shareholder incentive, in trying to ensure that the shareholder was rewarded appropriately and not over-rewarded.


When you look at fuel switching, you don't have a shareholder incentive as you do in DSM, so the need isn't there.


I think, in addition, if you look at it from a practical perspective, with these programs, if we underachieve in terms of the revenue that we generate, then if that is included in the revenue requirement, then the shareholder doesn't get the revenue that they had anticipated through these programs.


If we over-achieve, then that will get rolled into rates at the next subsequent hearing or rate case process, and ratepayers are better off as a result of that.


So I don't think you have the same need that's there, and I think that level of micromanagement, again, is inappropriate.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Would you agree that these various features that I just pointed out, the evaluation report and the independent auditor and the advisory committee, would you agree with me that in the DSM context, they're intended to and, in fact, do improve financial accountability and allow possible improvement of the programs; is that fair?


MR. RYCKMAN:  That is one of the purposes that that process serves.  You can do the same thing on the added-load side.  Again, if we're not getting the revenue that's anticipated, we can look at it and say, How can we generate more revenue?  


If we look at the costs, we can say, How can we do it with less costs?  So that, you know, it's a much simpler process.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I don't understand.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, let me try to phrase it this way.


You have got programs.  You expect a certain amount of revenue out of those programs.  You can track the volumes associated, the activity with those, the participants, and you know that you've got volumes for participants, so you can see how you're performing against where you expect to perform.


And, again, if you don't perform ‑‑ so if my revenue is less, then the shareholder doesn't get the revenue that was anticipated in the revenue requirement.  If it's more, that will go to the benefit of ratepayers on the go‑forward basis.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  In addition to that, would you agree with me that the financial accountability and the possible improvement of programs that result on the DSM side could benefit the fuel-switching side?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I don't think that process, in my opinion, would benefit on the fuel-switching side.  It's interesting to note that I'm not aware of any interrogatories that had asked for historic performance in terms of our added load programs.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  My second‑to‑last topic, then, now that I would switch to is new gas technologies.  And if you could turn to tab 3 of Pollution Probe's document book, Exhibit K6.3, which is Enbridge's response, as revised, to Pollution Probe's Interrogatory No. 3, and turn to page 4 of 10.  And, also, I'll be looking at from pages 4, 5, 6, and 7.


Now, these seem to be describing the activities of the business development and strategy department; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And I'd like to begin my gruelling cross‑examination by saying these are good programs and I compliment you on them.  Do you object?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I don't object.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I take it from ‑‑ well, first of all, I look at the list of programs at page 5 and so on.   These appear to be various ways in which the energy-efficiency technologies and the operational efficiencies that you've mentioned in general before, these are specific ways in which those are developed, right, the table that we see on pages 5 and following?


MR. RYCKMAN:  They are technologies that are being developed to support those operational and energy efficiencies that you've talked about.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I see everything from dishwashers to airplane de-icing there, so there's a wide variety.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And is it fair to say that your assumption or belief would be that these activities, because they operate at a fairly general technological level, benefit both your customers and the province as a whole; is that fair?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes, that's fair.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And if I look at the budget figure, turning back to page 2 of 10, we have a summary of various budgets, and this third item is the business development and strategy that we're talking about now; do you see that?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And according to that table, the actual budget for 2005 - there is a 2005 actual column - was approximately 2.7 million; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And the spending for 2006, however, was forecast to fall down to 1.6 million; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I don't agree with your characterization in terms of "falling".  It's certainly less than it was in 2005, but there's not just issues around underlying activity, but beginning in 2006, I believe, is when some of the -- some of the costs were capitalized, as well.


So this is strictly an O&M summary.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And do you recall, if what you've just mentioned is taken into account, the capitalization of some of those costs, what the effect would be on that budget?  In other words, for example, is it higher or lower than the 2005 actual?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I'm not ‑‑ I don't recall the amount.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Directionally, do you know if it was going up or down, including the capitalization that you've mentioned?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I would think directionally it's going down, but I would need to confirm that.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Do you recall what that budget for 2006 was - in other words, the 2006 budget for the business development and strategy - in your 2006 Energy Board filing?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I believe it was about 1.6 million.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  And do you know if that filing refers to the capitalized costs that you just mentioned or explains that?


MR. RYCKMAN:  They would be comparable numbers, so they would be purely O&M.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And -- okay.


Do you know whether the overall figure that -- in other words, the 1.6 million plus the capitalized amount that you've referred to, would be, for example, less than 2 million?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I don't know. 

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Can you undertake to provide that figure to me?  In other words, the budget for the business development and strategy for 2006, as adjusted or incorporating the capitalized amount that you've referred to, in two ways, one, for the prefiled estimate, and secondly, the actual?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes, we'd be happy to do that.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  It's Undertaking J6.2, and I think you've clearly stated it, Mr. Klippenstein, so I don't know that we need to repeat it.


UNDERTAKING NO. J6.2: TO PROVIDE THE BUDGET FOR THE 


2006 BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND STRATEGY, AS ADJUSTED OR 


INCORPORATING THE CAPITALIZED AMOUNT REFERRED TWO FOR 


(1) THE PREFILED ESTIMATE AND (2) FOR THE ACTUAL 

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And can you tell me, Mr. Ryckman, for purposes of comparing like to like, the 2005 number on this table also has a capitalized figure or correlate or...


MR. RYCKMAN:  I don't believe it does.  I believe the capitalization started in 2006.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.


And carrying on with that table for 2007, the proposed budget is approximately 3 million as we see in the table; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes, it is.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Now, Pollution Probe may suggest in argument that the Board should actually set the 2007 business and development strategy budget at a minimum of 3 million; and also, that if the business development strategy spending is less than 3 million, the difference should be returned to ratepayers in a variance account.


Would Enbridge accept that that would be in the public interest, setting aside any ADR agreement or the company's view?  Would you agree that there's a public-interest reason to do that?


MR. RYCKMAN:  No.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Will you explain?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, if you look, first of all, there's the comments that are on the record already.  But if you look just within the envelope of opportunity development, within that budget.  So, once again, we have to have flexibility within the 181.5 to manage our budgets.


If we even look within the smaller group of opportunity development, you can see that you've got storage operations, you've got also energy policy and analysis in there.


So, energy operations:  If we have safety things that we need to be able to address there, to have our budgets handcuffed with 3 million that is spent on technology development, to me, it would not be appropriate.  I mean, to think that we would be pursuing technology development and someone would even contemplate foregoing safety issues as a result of that is totally unacceptable.  


And, once again, we need to have flexibility to manage our budgets as the environment that we operate in changes on a day-to-day basis.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, you've mentioned safety issues.  Do you seriously think that the Board fixing this important development strategy budget at $3 million would seriously handcuff the company's ability to deal with safety in that overall budget?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, if you take it -- you know, if you look at page 2 of your handout, so, once again, tab 3, page 2.  You look at the right-hand side, the 2007 test year budget.  What's been proposed so far is basically locking down the $9 million that's in market development, locking down the business development and strategy, which is $3 million.  I wouldn't be surprised if, when we talk about energy opportunities, that the suggestion is that we do that there.


So you're almost -- you know, at the end of the day, you will end up saying, Let's remove 50 percent of the budget here, set it aside, and it's got to be used for these things, and you have to have that flexibility that you need to operate it with half of your budget left.  I would propose that that's an impossible situation in which to work. 


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Is there any other reason that you can think of why, from a public-interest point of view as opposed to the company point of view, in other words, other than the safety and flexibility issues you mentioned, 

that --


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, I think, you know, the company operates within the community that it serves.  So if it's not in the company's interests to have the flexibility to respond to the needs of the business and the needs of the customer, then it's not in the public interest to do that.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Let me ask similar questions quickly - and this is my final area of questioning, Mr. Chair - with respect to the topic of distributed generation, which is on pages 8, 9, and 10 at tab 3.


Pages 8, 9, and 10 are under the heading:  "Energy opportunities department," is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  That's correct.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And it promotes distributed generation, including things like cogeneration or combined heat and power equipment; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Correct.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Would you agree with me that greater reliance on these options for meeting Ontario's electricity needs would provide very significant benefits to Ontario?  Is that fair?


MR. RYCKMAN:  That's fair.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And if you could turn to page 2, again, of the same tab, the budget table we were just looking at.


The energy opportunities budget for 2005 actuals was approximately 1.394 million; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  That's correct.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And just as we discussed last time with the business and development -- business, development, and strategy component, that's projected to fall for 2006 to 1.177 million; do you see that?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes, I do.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And can you tell me why that would decrease?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I'd have to undertake to provide that.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  If you wouldn't mind.  Is that all right?  Will you --


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  J6.3.  Mr. Klippenstein, just for clarity of the record, could you state the undertaking.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  The undertaking, I believe, is to provide reasons, as best you can, for the decrease in the energy opportunities budget from the 2005 actual figure to the 2006 bridge year estimate of 1.177 million, as found on table 1 on page 2 of 10 in the Pollution Probe document book, tab 3.


UNDERTAKING NO. J6.3:  provide reasons for the 


decrease in the energy opportunities budget from the 


2005 actual figure to the 2006 bridge year estimate of 


1.177 million, as found on table 1 on page 2 of 10 in 


the Pollution Probe document book, tab 3.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Do you happen to know, Mr. Ryckman, whether that decrease also includes a capitalization component the way you mentioned earlier?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I don't believe it does.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  And the 2007 budget has a figure of 2.509 million, which is more than double the apparent actual level of spending in 2006.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Is that fair?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes, it is.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, again, just as with the business development and strategy component, Pollution Probe may suggest that the Board should actually establish an energy opportunities budget of at least $2.5 million, and that if the actual spending is less than that, the difference should be returned to the ratepayers through a variance account.


Now, as I asked you before, does the company have any reasons why it believes that might be contrary to the public interest?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I think my reasons are already on the record.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much, members to have panel.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.  We'll take the afternoon break at this point.  15 minutes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I wonder, Mr. Chair, if I might be excused with respect to that.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


--- Recess taken at 2:57 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 3:19 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Poch.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POCH:  

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Chair, I also have a collection of materials, the bulk of which are already on the record here or have been on the record in previous hearings, and I pulled them together to ease things, although I might not have to refer to them all in light of Mr. Klippenstein's cross, but perhaps it would be appropriate to get a number for that.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  K6.4.


EXHIBIT NO. K6.4:  BUNDLE OF MATERIALS PROVIDED BY 


MR. POCH.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  The panel already has copies, I think, in front of them, and there's extra copies here in case I missed any of my friends.


And, I apologize, I'm going to skip around a bit, panel, because in light of Mr. Klippenstein's cross, I can cut out a fair bit.  So bear with me.


Mr. Ryckman, we were talking about the question of retaining flexibility in your opportunity development budget and between the different pots that make up that budget, and you at one point said you are obligated to do certain of the tasks at hand.  Then we heard from Ms. Squires the example of responding to a safety situation.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  And I wanted to just delve into that.  Is it fair to say that a great deal of not just your OD budget, but your overall revenue requirement, is committed to matters that you're in some sense obligated to perform on?  You have to get bills out.  You have to keep the compressors going.  You have got to make sure the pipes don't crack.  You're hooking up customers, what have you.  


A large proportion of your budget is matters that you're obligated to do?


MR. RYCKMAN:  There are portions of our budget that we're obligated to undertake.  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. POCH:  Right.  And if you let them slip for long, some of these would have serious repercussions for either the company's business or public safety, public ‑‑ the public interest, or you would have repercussions when you came back to see the regulator?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Potentially.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And isn't it true, though, that with the portions of the opportunity development budget that are about building load and fuel switching, while they're certainly in the company's long‑term interest, you don't have quite the same immediate obligation, in that they're a little more optional for you and you have a little more leeway in any given year to use these as a kind of a buffer budget, because it's not the end of the world.  If you don't add that load this year, maybe you'll get it another time.  Maybe you won't get it.  Isn't that fair?


MR. RYCKMAN:  You have greater flexibility within the market-development budget than you would in other areas within the company.


MR. POCH:  Right.  And, indeed, if the president or Calgary or someone says, you know, We really need to increase our quarterly earnings this quarter or next quarter, it's an obvious place to look for some money, to not spend on current activities and to dividend to your shareholders?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Managing the overall financial performance of the company is important, just as all the safety‑related items are, as well.


MR. POCH:  Sure.  And, now, Ms. Squires, you gave the example of safety, but are you seriously saying to this Board that responding to safety situations has to come out of the opportunity development budget and, if it's being used for something else, you wouldn't respond in a timely fashion to a matter involving safety?


MS. SQUIRES:  No.  What I was trying to suggest was that we might see some public value in allocating some of our market development budget towards augmenting whatever safety messages are coming out from other sides or other departments within the company.


MR. POCH:  But if there was public matter in a matter like that, augmenting safety, surely you would find that money somewhere, even if this money was locked up?  On a matter of public safety, surely you would find that money, and it might even have to come from the shareholder, God forbid, but you would find it?


MR. RYCKMAN:  We need to have the flexibility to manage the business within not only all of the departments within the company, but also those activities.


So to say that you can find the money, I think, is a very broad‑brush statement.  At the end of the day, we've got to manage the amounts ‑‑ the amount of resources that we have and the activities and the priorities that we have, and if there's unforeseen circumstances that arise, then you've got to be able to respond to those.


MR. POCH:  That's fine.  But you would agree with me safety was maybe not the best example, because that's an example of something you would find a way to respond to anyway?


MR. RYCKMAN:  You need to have the flexibility to respond to it.


MR. POCH:  Right.  And if the Board said 9 million or whatever portion of this opportunity development budget is for these matters which are in the public interest but tend to be optional, and, therefore, we're going to silo that budget, you can't use it for something else and have you got to give it back if you don't use it for that, are you ‑‑ would you agree with me it's not ever going to impact on the company's response to a situation involving public safety?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I think what you're implying is that the company should be put in a position where it's restricted for portions of its budgets to have access to that to manage the day‑to‑day business needs, and to the extent that it needs to do that, over and above what's already provided for in that envelope and with that restriction in there, that that should be to the account of the shareholder.  


That's what it sounds to me as if it's being implied.


MR. POCH:  That's not what I'm implying, Mr. Ryckman.  I'm just saying you have to find it somewhere else.  You've got close to $1 billion somewhere else.  It may come from the shareholder or it may come from some other activity.  


All I'm saying is you would find somewhere else to get it if it was a matter of safety; correct?


MR. RYCKMAN:  You have areas where they have limited flexibility, where the bulk of their budgets could be salaries, for instance.  So what you're referring to is then laying off of staff, and then you've got severance costs and those sorts of things.  


So different areas of the company have different flexibility, and, once again, we need to be able to manage our business and not be micromanaged with these little pockets full of budgets within an overall envelope.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Ryckman, I've asked you four times.  This is my last attempt.  Can you just answer my simple proposition, though?  You're not going to sacrifice safety for this?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Safety, running a safe and reliable distribution system, is key to our operation.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  I'll take that as an affirmative.


Now, you've defended the 181.5 as you've pledged yourself to do in the agreement, but you do understand that the agreement also specifically allows the Board to deviate from that 181.5, if it so chooses to make specific orders with respect to fuel switching?


MR. RYCKMAN:  That is my understanding.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And that would not offend or would not upset your deal, and you understand that?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, to say that it wouldn't upset the deal, we support the 181.5.  That's what we've signed on to.


MR. POCH:  I understand, but your deal doesn't evaporate; the deal is specifically structured that it will accommodate that, if that should happen?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I believe the settlement wording preserves the right of GEC and Pollution Probe to cross‑examine on the OD budget.


MR. POCH:  And it preserves the right of the Board, in effect, to accept the package, but alter it in this one respect?  The package doesn't dissolve, and this is really ‑‑ Mr. O'Leary, perhaps you can confirm.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, Mr. Chair, I don't think this panel is in the place to start answering questions about the impact of the settlement agreement.  I believe the question has been answered.


MR. KAISER:  I think everyone understands your point, Mr. Poch.


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


One other matter that came up, you were talking about the TRC versus the NPV tests.  I guess it was you, Ms. Squires.  Can I just get your confirmation?  The NPV, the net present value, is the net present value of the costs and revenues to the company.  It takes no account of costs or benefits borne by the participants in the programs?


MS. SQUIRES:  It's a company-perspective test, yes.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  


Now, I should have prefaced all this by saying - and it may be obvious - we have a few concerns about your opportunity development budget, but, in general, we're supportive of these activities and we're, I think, in a similar position at Pollution Probe, Mr. Chairman, in that we'll be arguing for some siloing, as I've phrased it, to protect that budget and make sure it's adequate.


Panel, if you look in the materials I've provided, Exhibit K6.3 -- rather, I'm sorry, K6.4, if you -- I included in here a couple of pages from the 2006 case and from the -- starting at page 2 of my exhibit.  And I'm wondering if we could start there.


And, panel, I've included this because this was the only place I was able to find a breakout of what the 2006 

-- what proportions of the 2006 opportunity development budget that were for marketing-type activities, what they were or seemed to be at the time.


And I take it, first of all, in 2006, at the end of the day, there was an ADR or a decision, I can't recall, I wasn't party to that, entirely, but the opportunity development budget was in fact a package.  It wasn't broken out in any ADR or decision that came down.  You retained flexibility, in other words, Mr. Ryckman?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes, the Board -- my recollection of the decision was that we were provided an overall O&M envelope by which to operate the business.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  So if I just look on this exhibit, which was filed in EB 2005-0001 as Exhibit A6, tab 4, schedule 1, page 21, under the heading "2006 budget forecast", it's noted that market development was assumed to be -- you built up your budget including a market development allocation of $4.7 million.  Do you see that?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, I'd like to turn you to the answer -- the revised answer to Pollution Probe's interrogatory, which was -- I think it's included in Mr. Klippenstein's package this morning and -- yes.


He was looking -- it's at page 12 of his package, Mr. Chairman.  And there I see the 2006 bridge-year estimate for market development.  Correct me if I am wrong; I'm reading that as 3.577 million.  Do you see that, Mr. Ryckman?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes, correct.


MR. POCH:  So these would be comparable numbers or comparable categories, I should say?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  So in fact, what we saw was that, from your original budget, which is, assume 4.7 million for this category, market development, in the end, the actual spending is currently forecast to be about a little over a million less than that budget, about a fifth less?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And indeed -- let's leave that there, and let's move on.


Mr. Klippenstein took you to the exhibit where he indicated to you and you agreed that there were certain programs, fuel-switching programs, which weren't TRC-cost-effective.  And you indicated that you used the NPV, that is, from a company perspective, they're going to give you positive cash flow, the net present value of the cash flows and ins and outs were going to be positive, and that's the hurdle you've used, correct, Ms. Squires?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yeah.  Yes.


MR. POCH:  I'm going to suggest to you that if you promoted, told people to put gas flares on their front lawn, or asked them to leave their windows open in the winter, there would be positive net present value for you, assuming your program costs of doing that weren't too high.


MR. RYCKMAN:  You could force a calculation to show whatever scenario you wanted to.


MR. POCH:  Right.  The fact that there's a positive NPV is not an indication of whether something's any good for society; correct?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I don't necessarily -- I don't necessarily agree with that because what the TRC calculation does not do is pick up things that are of value to customers over and above this calculation.  So there could be lifestyle benefits, there could be convenience --


MR. POCH:  Sure.


MR. RYCKMAN:  -- benefits.  There's all kinds of things that aren't picked up here.


If you looked a one of the examples, for instance, that was in the business development strategy programs, one of them that Mr. Klippenstein referred to, the airplane de-icing.  That calculation doesn't pick up the reduction in glycol use as a result of that.


So to turn around and say that the TRC should be the appropriate test, I don't think is appropriate. 


MR. POCH:  Mr. Ryckman, I wasn't turning to TRC, I was just talking about the NPV.  You would agree with me the NPV is no indicator as to whether or not something’s a good thing for you to be promoting, from a societal perspective.  It's just looking at cash flows to the company.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, I think what's implicit in that question is some judgment on what the company should and should not be pursuing.  Once again, it's disregarding what customers may want and desire in some of those programs. From an NPV perspective, what we're showing is that the benefits --


MR. POCH:  Mr. Ryckman, can I just interrupt you and ask you to be responsive the question.  You can make your speech afterwards.


MR. O'LEARY:  In fairness, Mr. Chair, Mr. Ryckman was in the middle of answering the question, and the usual courtesy is you allow him to finish before you ask another question, Mr. Poch.


MR. POCH:  I did let him finish, and I asked the question again, and I don’t know how many times I'm going to allow him to finish.  But with all that, let’s just put it back to Mr. Ryckman now and ask him to respond to my question.  


Go ahead, Mr. Ryckman, if that's all right, Mr. Chairman.


MR. RYCKMAN:  The NPV illustrates the costs and the benefits of undertaking that program from the utility perspective.  Where it is positive, it should drive rates down over time.  The TRC calculation does not pick up all of the things that could be of value in a customer's decision, it's monetizing certain aspects of that transaction.


MR. POCH:  The NPV doesn't take into account any of the customer -- the participants' costs or benefits other than the fact that they, like every other gas company customer, will enjoy rates going down over time if the company has more cash flow; correct?


MR. RYCKMAN:  If a customer has decided to undertake these programs, they have decided to undertake the expenses associated with that.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ryckman, isn't it the case that these two measures, NPV and TRC, they measure entirely different things?


MR. RYCKMAN:  That is fair.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. POCH:  Now, Mr. Ryckman, changing topics yet again if I may, in the materials I've provide, I did -- and I apologize, this wasn't -- this piece wasn't provided earlier and it isn't on the record, but I don't think it will offend anybody.


At page 11 of Exhibit K6.4, I've reproduced a page from a document that the Board distributed, I think a week or two ago.  This was -- the Board conducts now -- now conducts an annual survey of stakeholders, whoever they may be.  And I thought this was germane to the topic and wouldn't be controversial.


The page of it that I've reproduced there seems to indicate, and I'm wondering if this accords with your sense of the marketplace, that in the popular mind, at least, the  stakeholders, as captured by this survey, the electricity supply and reliability issues are really dominating right now, perhaps not surprisingly, and gas pricing and issues like gas pricing and competition have fallen down in ranking.  Does that accord with your sense of what the public you're marketing to is saying?


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I just wanted to indicate, and I'm sorry for interrupting Mr. Poch, but this was a document that was just given to the panel as well, and so my earlier concerns about the panel's familiarity with this document, hence their ability to speak to it.  I have no doubt that it's the Energy Board survey and that it speaks for what it says, but again, I'm just cautioning that this panel is not the author of the document and have only seen it now and perhaps haven't had a chance to look at it.


MR. POCH:  Fine, Mr. Chairman, these are really only set-ups and not --


MR. KAISER:  I think all he's really asking is does his experience in the market -- does he come to the same conclusion as this survey?  We know it's not his survey, somebody else did the survey for the Board.  It expresses a ranking of concerns on the part of stakeholders, and he may have no view on it; he may have some view on it.


MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, that's fine.  I just wanted to point out the limitation on the panel's abilities.


MS. SQUIRES:  Perhaps I can comment on this, and that is to say that within Enbridge, we haven't actually surveyed our customers to ask them these exact questions.


And certainly, when we do market research as we do for various programs and initiatives, our focus tends to be on the natural gas situation and issues related to the natural gas world.


And to my knowledge, we haven't done a similar survey like this to actually take the pulse of our consumers' perceptions on electricity supply issues.


MR. POCH:  And you don't have an opinion as to, apart from the actual survey work you've done, do you have any sense of whether this accords with your sense of the marketplace?


MS. SQUIRES:  Well, in our prefiled evidence, we do actually refer to a heightened sense of awareness in the market just based on media representation of electricity-supply issues, and we're certainly aware of that and would acknowledge that.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  So this doesn't shock you.


And I think we would all agree we're working within a context, or certainly a matter of government policy, that we -- government policy recognizes there's some urgency on the electricity side, and you're trying to be responsive to that, I take it?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  Now, the obvious role for you in that regard is with respect to fuel switching.  Mr. Klippenstein took you to the SeeLine study.  I wanted to take you to just one quote from that accompanying piece.  I don't know if it was accompanying.  It was accompanying in his materials.  


It's included in my materials at page 20, and that was the submission that is credited to Enbridge that was made to OPA back in August of 2005.


And I should apologize, first of all.  I realize this copy seems to have a great many typos in it, and, I think, Mr. Chairman, it was -- at some point in the chain of evidence, it got optical character recognition done to it and was not corrected, but I think we can make sense of it nevertheless.


If you turn to page 22 of K6.4, this is discussing -- and perhaps I should first turn you to the back, to page 23.  This -- you can see there a summary of results.  It's -- again, it's a five-year scenario.  And I take it it has -- if you go back to page 22, this has an even higher suggestion for what the level of incentives may be.  


Here it's proposing -- it's giving the example of a 50 percent incentive level.  Do you see that, Ms. Squires?  I imagine this is for you.  Do you see that?


MS. SQUIRES:  I see the reference to the 50 percent --


MR. POCH:  Right.


MS. SQUIRES:  -- in the third paragraph on page 22.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  And this scenario is described in the next paragraph there as, and I'll read it:

"Enbridge believes that this schedule, while aggressive, is achievable using current technology and building on current infrastructure." 


Now, before I ask you to comment, I'll point out that this scenario had OPA paying for perhaps all of those incentives.  It wasn't going to have the impact on gas rates that you've raised concern about. 


So with that observation in mind, do you think ‑‑ could you agree that it is possible, though aggressive, and is certainly achievable, using current technology, to do this kind of a fuel-switching program over five years, and, again, assuming that the OPA antes up to minimize the rate impact for your customers?


MS. SQUIRES:  Well, first I would just like to repeat that as we've talked about in Mr. Klippenstein's cross‑examination, this document was not authored certainly by me, and I wasn't a part of its preparation or the analysis.


But just based on the language that I'm looking at now in that sentence you just read, it says that it's "achievable using current technology and building on current infrastructure."  To me, that doesn't address any of the market conditions, which in my mind are one of the big question marks, as to whether the market and the suppliers of the equipment are prepared to support that sort of investment.


MR. POCH:  That factor might cause you to either extend the horizon or ramp up starting at a little lower level; would that be fair?  One assumes that manufacturers would be happy to play ball.  It just might take them a while to build up a head of steam; is that fair?


MS. SQUIRES:  Well, I don't know that it's fair, because manufacturers of a lot of the gas appliances, such as white goods, ranges and dryers and so on, they don't just manufacture gas.  They manufacture gas and electricity.  And I don't know what their markup is, what their return is on various fuel sources.


I don't know if they're unbiased when it comes to fuel, in terms of their own financial return.


MR. POCH:  Let me ask you another question about this.  If you were to embark on a more aggressive fuel-switching campaign than the one you're proposing in your current evidence, perhaps not as aggressive as this or not as soon to reach maturity as this one that's recorded here, would you agree with me that a significant amount of the societal benefit would be enjoyed by the customers wearing their electricity consumer hats and by electricity consumers, generally, because it would have benefits for the capacity problem on the electricity side?


MS. SQUIRES:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that question?


MR. POCH:  If you did embark on the fuel-switching program, a lot of the benefits are enjoyed by electricity customers?  There are benefits for gas customers, but the bulk of the benefits are enjoyed by the electricity customers?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. SQUIRES:  That's probably the case.


MR. POCH:  But that the benefits for gas customers aren't insignificant, as you've pointed out several times already.  This is going to better utilize your system and lower gas rates over the long run; correct?


MS. SQUIRES:  Lower rates, yes.  That's right.


MR. POCH:  So would it be reasonable to assume that a fair way to pursue this would be for you rate funded, with your rate‑funded programs, to share some of the burden and for OPA to share some of the burden going forward in these kinds of programs?  That would be a more optimal allocation of costs and that would better match the benefits?


MS. SQUIRES:  We're certainly agreeable to looking at sharing costs with the OPA or any other interested party that has a stake in this sort of fuel-switching model.  But without actually analyzing the financials, the optimal cost‑sharing would have to be looked at on a case‑by‑case basis.


MR. RYCKMAN:  But I think conceptually you're referring to the societal benefits that would be generated, so you do need a broader participation that perhaps the OPA would bring to that initiative.


MR. POCH:  Now, I think it's understandable that you're in a position where you come before this Board and ask for a budget, and then you go off and do your thing, including chats with the OPA, and that ‑‑ well, let me put it this way.


Do we have a bit of a chicken-and-egg problem here?  It's hard for you to go out and make a commitment to the OPA when you don't have a budget, but it's hard for you to come before this Board and say, Give us another 5 million in addition to what we're already doing, without first having a contract with the OPA?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I wouldn't characterize it as a chicken-and-egg.  I think both organizations can play a role, and we have identified, through our prefiled budgets, what role we believe that we can play effectively in that overall arena.  And certainly to the extent that the OPA can bring some value to that, I think that's appropriate.


MR. POCH:  Well, I'm imagining a scenario where you sit down with the OPA next week and it's time to renew these discussions, and they say, Well, okay, well, what are you bringing to the table?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Right.


MR. POCH:  And you could say, Well, here's the budget we have, and we're going to spend -- we're planning to spend about, you know, 5 million, or whatever the number is, on fuel switching.  I guess it's 9 million, including your administrative, including the base level of spending you were already spending.


MR. RYCKMAN:  On a prefiled basis, yes.


MR. POCH:  On a prefiled basis, exactly.


And whatever that number shrinks to, you're going to say, Well, that's what we have available.


And they're going to say, Well, you were going to spend that anyway.  Correct?


MR. RYCKMAN:  It would be our plan to spend the money that we have, yes.


MR. POCH:  Sure.  So they're going to say, Well, if we kick in some big bucks here, what incremental spending can you bring to the table to reach new markets and extend the reach of your programs even further?  Is the answer that you would have to tell the OPA, Well, we'll go back to the Board next year and seek incremental funding?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I'm not sure that that relationship has to be on a purely financial basis.  There's other things that we could bring to that relationship over and above just the monetary commitment.


MR. POCH:  Would you agree, Mr. Ryckman, if you had some kind of a variance account for this, that may be a way around this problem?  If the Board were to give you an enhanced budget for fuel switching, in light of the pressures that we're all aware of right now, but it's a use-it-or-lose-it scenario, you can't divert that money to other purposes, then you would be in a position to go to the OPA and say, If you can cough up, we can play ball?


MR. RYCKMAN:  The company isn't prepared to accept the proposition of a variance account.  As I outlined earlier, that level of micromanagement and the difficulty in defining what's in and outside of that variance account would be problematic and unworkable, in my opinion.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Panel, I'm wondering if you could just turn up -- actually, before we leave the SeeLine and accompanying submission to the OPA.


Just looking at this SeeLine study, which is in materials I have provided you, at page 14 of those materials, using your own assumptions about life expectancy, which I think appear in the bottom table on page -- my page 14, there is a TRC estimation there for the 2007 portion of this five-year scenario at about $124 million; correct?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  That would be using life assumptions that are more in line with the ones you, in fact, do use, Ms. Squires?  Do you know?


MS. SQUIRES:  I'm sorry, but I would have to check.  I don't know offhand.


MR. POCH:  All right.  It may be closer to a hundred, as it is in the box above, depending on which -- or somewhere in between, depending on which set of assumptions one uses?


MS. SQUIRES:  I just don't know what assumptions were used in this and how they compare to my own.


MR. POCH:  Fair enough.  I just want to compare that, though, with what you are doing on fuel switching and what your budget is on fuel switching.  And so can we turn back to page 10 of K6.4, which is a reproduction of Board Staff Interrogatory No. 25.  And the fuel switching that you are planning to do, or at least that you were planning to do before you made your deal with the other intervenors, was going to -- you estimate it was going to generate about $66 million in TRC in one year?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So and that's with a budget that you've indicated is around 9 million; correct?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Correct.


MR. POCH:  So just looking at the kind of aggressive, more aggressive scenario in the SeeLine study, it's looking at further -- I don't know if it's incremental or if these would overlap, but it's looking at numbers roughly twice as much; correct?  That it suggests is out there and is achievable?  Is that fair?


MS. SQUIRES:  Can you explain again what you're comparing?


MR. POCH:  I was just comparing the TRC as one measure of the scale of the program, and I was just noting that the SeeLine scenario in that year had a level of societal benefit creation that's roughly twice that of what you're planning to get in 2007.


MS. SQUIRES:  Right.  If you're comparing the 124 million in table 1B to our 66 million, that's approximately twice.


MR. POCH:  Right.  Okay.  That's a fair -- those are apples and apples?


MS. SQUIRES:  I don't know if I'd say they're apples and apples because they're different programs, different assumptions.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Same -- they're attempts to measure the same item?  They might be using a slightly different --


MS. SQUIRES:  They represent the TRC value of two different fuel-switching scenarios.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Thank you.


Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I think those are all the questions I have on this topic.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.   Mr. Shepherd, any questions on this?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I think Mr. DeVellis and Mr. Buonaguro are going to precede me.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. DeVellis, please go ahead.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. De Vellis:

MR. DE VELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is John DeVellis and I'm appearing on behalf of the Schools Energy Coalition this afternoon.


My first area of questioning is really more of a clarification.  In your evidence at Exhibit D1, tab 8, schedule 1, paragraph 2, which I believe we looked at earlier, you mention an increase in spending of $5 million in the opportunity development budget, and you say primarily due to increase in fuel switching.


MR. RYCKMAN:  It's load growth and fuel switching is what the 5 million refers to.  And that is an increase above the business-as-usual forecast that is included in the -- is attachment A of Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And if I can just now refer you back to the Board Staff interrogatory that we looked at earlier.  That's number 25, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 25.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. DE VELLIS:  There you have the fuel switching budget, and the total I get from the two programs, the residential market and the business market programs, are both 3.5 million.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And as I recall from the -- last year's fuel-switching budget was approximately 1.5 million; is that correct?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  I think some of the difficulty is that there's overlap here, as Mr. Green spoke to earlier.  Fuel switching is something that we've undertaken for many, many years, and it's -- the lines are somewhat blurry in that all the fuel-switching initiatives we're talking about there, replacing furnaces, water heaters, those sorts of things that we've tried to do in the past.


So when you refer to fuel switching broadly, it gets a little muddy, in my mind.  But there were amounts that were included in the budget, the 2006 regulatory budget was 4.7, 4.7 million for market development is my recollection.


MR. DE VELLIS:  I'm just trying to get a -- is it possible to get a comparison of this year's proposed fuel-switching budget as filed?  I understand that you say it may change.  But as compared to last year's on an apples-to-apples basis?


MR. RYCKMAN:  The 2006 estimate is what I would say the most accurate comparison at this point in time, which is the three-million-five-seven-seven versus the 2007 regulatory budget of nine-zero-six-six.  If you look at Pollution Probe 3, go to the handout that Mr. Klippenstein provided earlier and it's tab 3.  It's marked page 12 but it's actually Exhibit I, tab 15, schedule 3, page 2 of 10.


If you look at the market development budget.  And that's where fuel switching activities typically occur.  The 2006 estimate is three-five-seven-seven versus a 2007 budget of nine-zero-six-six.


MR. DE VELLIS:  But not all of the market development is fuel switching?


MR. RYCKMAN:  No.  That's fair.


MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And I thought that the interrogatory we were looking at earlier, Board Staff 25, was the actual fuel-switching budget?


MS. SQUIRES:  No, actually Board Staff 25 reflects our entire growth and fuel switching portfolio.  So it's not -- to a large extent, it does represent fuel switching, but there could be some load retention activities included in that.  Again, as Mr. Green mentioned earlier today, we're putting the name fuel switching on something that's really just business-as-usual growth activity that we've been doing for many years.


It is a little bit confusing, I recognize, because some line items in Board Staff 25 have the words "fuel switching" in them, in the program names, and some don't.  But, in aggregate, what you see in Board Staff 25 represents the growth and fuel-switching activities planned for 2007.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well ‑‑ okay.


So of that 3.5 million, approximately 1 million is for EnergyLink-related spending?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  Oh, in 2006 or '7?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm sorry, going back to 2007 now.


MR. RYCKMAN:  2007?


MR. DeVELLIS:  No EnergyLink in '06.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Oh, in '06?


MR. DeVELLIS:  No, '07.


MR. RYCKMAN:  '07?  Yes, if you look at -- once again, I'm using the Pollution Probe handout, and that's tab 3, the page that's labelled as page 13 up in the top right hand.  You can see EnergyLink was broken out there, and the total is 1.036.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And why is it 1.036 there and 1.3 million in response to HVAC Interrogatory No. 4?


MS. SQUIRES:  The 1.036 amount that you see here represents the program costs that we're planning for EnergyLink.  The difference between that and the larger amount - I think you said 1.3 million - is overhead costs related to EnergyLink.  I don't have all the details on that amount, but what -- I can speak to the 1.036 as being program-dedicated spending.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, in response to an interrogatory from the Consumers Coalition of Canada No. 36.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. DeVellis, could you read out the exhibit number so we can pull it up?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, I beg your pardon.  It's Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 36.


So you're asked there, 

"What is the projected four‑year budget for fuel switching?"  


And your response at the bottom of the page is that:

"A projected four‑year budget for fuel  switching has not been established at this time."  


You see that there?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And you give a number of reasons why that is, and my question is that surely you can build in contingencies for some of the factors that you've mentioned there, in terms of establishing a plan, a four‑year plan, for fuel switching?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I think there are ways that you can build in contingencies to deal with possible risks and unknown, but fundamentally what's behind this response, in my opinion, is that this is a 2007 rate case under cost‑of‑service review, and we are applying for rates for 2007 only.


So the program information that was provided is for what we're asking to spend in 2007.  We're not seeking relief for anything out past 2007 in the 2007 rate case.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, in terms of a revenue approval, that may be correct, but it would have been possible to present a five‑year plan or even have a plan?


MR. RYCKMAN:  You can develop multi‑year plans, I agree with that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, would you agree that during a multi‑year incentive regulation framework there is a danger that short-term financial incentive may lead the company to decrease spending on a program such as fuel switching, which may have more of a longer-term payback period?


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, I wouldn't agree with that.  The incentive regulation regime has not been defined at this time, so I can't say what the impacts would be.


MR. DE VELLIS:  And with fuel-switching activities generally, you're trying to, in effect, change consumers' mindset with respect to their energy consumption; is that a fair characterization?


MS. SQUIRES:  I believe that's part of it, and so in some circumstances we're giving them information and education on the benefits of fuel switching.  In other cases, it's a financial constraint that we are -- we are helping out by providing a financial incentive on.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But that sort of shift in consumer attitudes requires a long‑term perspective or long‑term plan; wouldn't you agree?


MS. SQUIRES:  In some cases yes, and in some cases no.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, just looking back to the Board Staff Interrogatory No. 25, that's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 25.  We saw that most of the programs listed there had a positive net present value, and also most of them also had a positive net TRC.  You agree with me there?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And one of the remaining issues out of the settlement agreement is how to spend the $1.3 million in EnergyLink funds in the event the Board does not approve those funds for EnergyLink.  Can you tell me if the company has a plan as to how to spend that money in that case?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Overall, we had a plan to spend in market development some -- well, 9.066 million.  That's reduced as a result of the settlement proposal.  So to the extent that we had 1.3 million layered back in, we would carry forward with our original plan, or a portion of the original plan.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry, does that mean that your plan is to channel that or redirect that 1.3 million to other fuel-switching activities if it's not approved for EnergyLink?


MR. RYCKMAN:  It would effectively go to the programs that are outlined in Board Staff 25 other than EnergyLink.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Who's next?  Mr. Buonaguro.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Our interest in the OD budget is specific, and we already have the table up, which, for reference's sake, is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 25, page 3 of 3.


And, specifically, our interest is in line item number 7, the low‑income water-heater fuel switching.


Because this is an element that's covered in the settlement proposal, I'll be very specific.  We're not challenging the $181.5 million for other O&M, and we're not challenging generally the company's ability to use the funds flexibility, but, specifically, we've reserved the right under the settlement proposal to argue for the inclusion -- or to maintain the inclusion of item number 7 in their budget, which represents approximately $925,000.


Now, I'm going to ask the question first:  Presumably under your original other O&M budget of $200.8 million, you were proposing to do this program and had no problems fitting it into the budget; is that correct?


MS. SQUIRES:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the proposed new budget is 181.5.  Has the company come to the conclusion about this particular program at number 7 as to whether or not it wants to pursue it or cut it as part of the overall reduction in the other O&M budget?


MS. SQUIRES:  We have not.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is the company opposed to having a firm allocation with respect to this program?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, we are.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain why?


MS. SQUIRES:  Well, for many of the reasons we've heard from Mr. Ryckman earlier today when we were discussing carving off silos, to use the word that we heard earlier, for various budget elements, we want to maintain the flexibility within the portfolio to allocate funds appropriately.


As we discussed earlier as well, this program in particular, as you see, has a negative NPV, and if we were to preserve that level of funding with a smaller overall envelope of dollars, the impact of that negative NPV would be relatively larger, which is a concern from the company's perspective and from a ratepayer perspective.


So those are the kind of considerations we would have to make in determining how much we would end up spending.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you may have answered this as part of your answer to my question, but let me just make sure.


So under the original 200.8 proposal, I presume then the negative .56 NPV wasn't a concern? 


MR. RYCKMAN:  I wouldn't characterize it that way.  What Ms. Squires said earlier was that, in the context of the overall portfolio of initiatives that we're undertaking, that the portfolio was still robust and for the heating considerations that low-income customers have, that it was appropriate within the context of the prefiled budget.


I think what she's referring to now, if you look at that Board Staff 25, you can see that you've got a little over, well, $925,000 out of $3 million program budget.  It's roughly a third of that.  That $3 million will have to be revisited as a result of the settlement agreement.  So, once again, locking in the 925, locking in the 1.3 for EnergyLink, locking in the nine-zero-six-six, locking in the two-five-zero-nine for energy opportunities and the 3 million for business development strategy, once again, we're going down this road of micromanagement.  


Obviously, we came forward in our plan with an initiative to address the low-income market, and we did that on our own and we're committed to pursue that market.  But we'll have to look at it in the context of the overall budget, whatever that final budget ends up being.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But on the issue of the lifetime NPV and the negative value, and how that factors into how you evaluate the overall portfolio, whatever portfolio is left over, I just want to refer you to page 4 of Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 1.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Page 4?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, page 4.  Item number 7.  I'll just read it for the record:

"Enbridge Gas Distribution has not completed a full analysis of the opportunity of costs for low-income customer water-tank fuel switching.  The company is proposing to spend 925,000 on this program in 2007 and recognizes that if this budget must cover 100 percent of incremental costs plus fixed costs, the potential number of participants is limited.  For this reason, the company will consider alternative arrangements for program delivery such as partnerships with other organizations to offset incentive costs and it is investigating the potential for creative rental offers for low-income consumers."


So I took it from that answer, and some other answers in the interrogatories, that, going back to how the program is characterized under line 7 in I25, table 1, that you're not 100 percent sure what the program is going to look like in terms of delivery and incentives and partners and such?


MS. SQUIRES:  Well, I can say this at this time.


The $925,000 budget would bring us, I think the number is about 1,100 participants, which is captured --


MR. RYCKMAN:  1,150.


MS. SQUIRES:  1,150 participants, and I think that is captured in Board Staff 25, if we were to offer an incentive level of about $800 per customer.  Now, $800 per customer, in fact, will not get an electric tank converted to a gas tank if you factor in the costs of a service line, and if the customers needed any -- if they needed a power vent or something like that.


So anyway, it's a conservative -- or it's an aggressive target with that $925,000.


But the response that you read from Exhibit I, tab 7,  schedule 1, suggests that we would work with other partners such as the OPA if there were an opportunity; if they were to come forward and indicate that they had a similar objective and a similar goal, and with their own funds, if they could reduce the amount of our investment, or add to the incentive, then the result would be that we would get a  higher number of participants.  I think the program design would be fairly simple either way.  We would have to offer the customer 100 percent of the incremental costs for the water heater or else the programs are not going to fly because we've recognized in the low-income market, it's unlikely that the customers have the capital available to make the investment.  So the program design would not vary much, regardless of who's at the table.


MR. DE VELLIS:  But depending on who is at the table, the NPV, for example, could change, and so could the TRC?


MS. SQUIRES:  That's a possibility.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I almost read some of your answers to say, and I think it seems pretty obvious, that this is a fairly new idea in terms of targeting low-income fuel switching and trying to come up with a particular way of reaching that market, and leveraging, I think is the word you used in one of your other answers, the new targeted low-income DSM program in terms of delivering this particular program to low-income users of gas.


MS. SQUIRES:  This is a fairly new concept on the growth side, you're right.  And I think you're also correct in drawing a link to what's also happening on the DSM side.  And to the greatest extent possible, I would plan to leverage those against one another.


And to the extent that we might have a delivery channel developed on the DSM side, we would use that, if it was a good fit, to deliver this program as well.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, speaking of a link to the DSM targeted low-income program, I sent to the -- well, to the company and presumably the panel got it on Friday, late afternoon/early evening, an excerpt from the DSM generic proceeding decision which I gave to Board Staff.


It's pages number 32 and 33 from the decision in EB-2006-0021.


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K6.5.


EXHIBIT NO. K6.5:  Pages 32 and 33 from EB-2006-0021

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, did you say 6.5?


MR. MILLAR:  6.5.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So this excerpt, as I said, is from the Board decision, and specifically it has to do with the presentation of a settlement proposal to the Board, and specifically, on the targeted program for low-income consumers.


And at the bottom of the page, the first page, 32, it starts with: 

"The parties to this settlement further agree that of the $1.0 million budget for market transformation programs, each utility would spend no less than 14 percent on targeted low-income market transformation programs.”



And then over the page, and I believe this is a separate paragraph:

"The utilities agree that by the establishment of this spending level floor, they will not, as a result, reduce planned DSM spending in other rate classes or sectors which are directed at low-income residents (e.g. social housing multi-unit residential spending) or their spending on fuel switching targeted to low-income customers."


Now, would you agree with me that as part of the settlement proposal in the generic DSM, which I believe the entire panel was involved in, there was a link between what the proposal was for low-income DSM spending and proposed spending on fuel switching targeted to low-income customers?


MS. SQUIRES:  Well, if you review that paragraph you just read, it indicates that the company has agreed to not reduce DSM spending -- or, sorry, not to reduce spending on fuel switching as a result of this decision.


And I don't think anybody is suggesting that we would reduce our spending as a result of this DSM generic decision.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I want to be careful with you because I think we may have a different interpretation of the impact of this section, and I don't want to make you ‑‑ I'm not trying to ask you to interpret it.  I'm just trying to establish that your spending on fuel switching targeted to low‑income customers was linked to your DSM spending proposal, and we can argue, presumably at final argument, exactly what this means, because otherwise I don't want to get into evidence about what happened at the actual settlement proposal at this point.  I don't think that's necessary.


But there is mention of fuel switching here?


MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, there is.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And fuel switching actually wasn't a topic of the generic DSM program.  In fact, it was specifically excluded, but, nevertheless, we've included some level of commitment to fuel switching here, and, in that sense, the DSM settlement proposal was linked to your fuel-switching activity?


MS. SQUIRES:  I would agree that there's definitely a reference to fuel switching in this DSM decision.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, if I might help -- and I don't have a copy of the DSM decision with me, but it might be of assistance to Mr. Buonaguro if we did pull it up.  It's my recollection ‑ I stand to be corrected ‑ that in fact parties agreed that fuel switching would not ‑‑ it was specifically excluded from the consideration by the Panel, because they felt -- the parties felt, as part of the settlement agreement, and I believe all parties were in agreement with this, that fuel switching should not be part of the DSM generic proceeding; and, thus, I would suggest that there is actually no connection.  It was specifically agreed that it would not be connected with DSM spending.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  That may be EGD's argument when it comes to interpreting this section at the end of the day.


MR. KAISER:  But you have a different argument?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have a different argument.


MR. RYCKMAN:  But I think it's also important to note that when we were developing the 2007 budget, and as previously talked about, 30 percent of the residential proposed prefiled budget is targeted to low‑income customers.  If we felt that we were going ‑‑ if this strict interpretation that you're proposing existed in our minds, there would be no reason for us to come forward and have that larger budget, when we could preserve flexibility by going with a lower budget, if you will, and then doing more if we could.


So I would suggest that in the development of our 2007 prefiled budget, we did not interpret that phrase in the DSM settlement proposal as strictly as you're proposing here today.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm not sure if the Board wants me to respond.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I think we're really just at an argument here as to what the ‑‑ how we would interpret the decision.  I don't know that these witnesses can help you very much.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I wasn't suggesting ‑‑ I really just needed to make the point that there is a reference.  There's a connection between the two issues that was made in the settlement proposal that was before the Board in the decision, and that I'll be making argument on that in terms of whether or not this Board should order that the targeted low‑income program that they proposed in this case should be maintained on the basis of what happened in the settlement proposal that was presented to the Board.


In fairness to myself, I didn't actually give an interpretation, and I think they've anticipated what my interpretation is, essentially, that part of the negotiation or part of what this settlement proposal represents is a commitment to fuel switching, and for that reason parties like VECC agreed to a particular floor for DSM as opposed to some other floor.


But, again, I think the Board has correctly heard me when I said that's really a matter for argument.


MR. KAISER:  I guess the only problem, regardless of the interpretation, the 925,000 which Mr. Ryckman has referred to, which is a substantial piece of the residential total spending - about a third, as he says - I guess your problem and maybe our problem is we don't know what that number is ultimately going to become.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I will be arguing that it should be 925.


MR. KAISER:  No, I know.  I know, but we don't know what the company's position is, because the company -- Mr. O'Leary, I take it, says, Well, we're not going to commit to any piece of this.  We want total flexibility, and in light of the settlement agreement, we'll go away and we'll rejigger things.


It sort of makes it difficult for us to make any judgment on specific amounts that may be at issue, such as this particular amount.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I would propose that this is sort of the exchange that you're going to get in the argument on the issue.  The proposal is what it is.  It was $925,000.


Whether or not they should have maintained flexibility because, in general, over the budget with respect to this particular item in light of what we would consider to be a prior commitment is a matter for argument.


MR. KAISER:  Is it your position, if they reduce it below the 925,000, they offend this 14 percent rule?


MR. BUONAGURO:  No, there's no ‑‑ I wouldn't argue that there's an inverse relationship or relationship in terms of numbers.


The point in the settlement proposal, we're going to argue, is that we understood it to mean that -- it's hard to ‑‑ maybe I'll just put this colloquially.  The parties agree to a particular spending level.  Part of why we would do that is because we are aware that you are also, in addition to DSM, targeting low‑income customers on the fuel-switching side.   And that's a benefit collateral to DSM, and as long as we're agreeing to maintain this, you can be more comfortable with what we're going to do in DSM.


That's the nub of the argument.  And if that's not the case, then there's no real reason to put that in here, we would argue.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But I don't think we want to get drawn into evidence on the negotiations.  I don't think that's necessary.


MR. KAISER:  No.  Thank you.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I wonder if I could just perhaps add some clarity to it.


The portion of the decision with reasons of the DSM generic panel that relates to the appropriateness of fuel switching or DSM funds being used for fuel switching is issue 14.1 and 14.2.  And, specifically, 14.1, which was completely settled by all the parties, said that it's not appropriate to use DSM funds for fuel switching and that the utilities would come forward, as part of the rate case, with a request for approval for funds for fuel switching.


And there were ‑‑ there was no specific number put forward in the DSM generic proceeding in respect of low‑income fuel switching programs.


So there can't be any link between the specific number then and this proceeding.  There now is a specific number that was included in the prefiled evidence, and the company has simply said that that number may now require some reduction in light of the settlement on the other O&M.  


It has not said that it will not undertake low‑income programs, but certainly there is no direct link between this proceeding and the DSM proceeding.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  I think we understand your position.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It may be useful to have the entire decision in the record, if you would like.


MR. KAISER:  It would be.  Could we do that, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  All right.  So shall we mark that as an exhibit, then?


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K6.6.  And that's the Phase I Generic DSM decision.


MR. O'LEARY:  Dated August 25, 2006, EB‑2006‑0021.


EXHIBIT NO. K6.6:  PHASE I GENERIC DSM DECISION DATED AUGUST 26, 2006, IN EB‑2006‑0021.

MR. KAISER:  I know, Mr. O'Leary, your witnesses have a concern, particularly Mr. Ryckman, about not micromanaging, and I understand that position.  They don't want to be making commitments as to what they're doing on this, that or the other thing, but just give some consideration to this, and I haven't thought about it very deeply.  


This is a big chunk of the budget as it then was, and this is a live issue in this case.  So just give consideration as to whether you can fix a number, a new number, in light of the settlement reductions with respect to this one item.  That might assist some of these parties here today.  


If you can't, you can't.  We'll understand your position, but just give that some consideration.


MR. O'LEARY:  We will, sir.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd, anything?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have about 30 minutes.  Do you want me to start today or do you want me to start tomorrow?


MR. KAISER:  Well, we're in your hands.  What would you prefer, Mr. O'Leary?  They're your witnesses.  It's been a long day.  On the other hand, they may want to finish up.


Mr. Millar, do you have much?


MR. MILLAR:  Only about five to ten minutes.

     MR. O'LEARY:  I'm not sure, Mr. Bourke -- but we had an indication that CCC was going to ask 30 minutes of questions of this panel as well.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I spoke with Ms. Girvan and I think she 

does have questions, but probably more like 15 or 20 

minutes.  She's not here this afternoon.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, if that's the case, if 

that's the case, we'll start at 9:30 if that's --

     MR. O'LEARY:  I believe, sir, just to refresh -- go 

ahead.

     MR. POCH:  Oh, I was just going to ask for your 

indulgence.  

     Mr. Chairman, inadvertently I did include in my 

materials a couple of pages excerpt from another part of 

that record of the generic proceeding.  It's just -- it's a 

portion which, it's Union's prefiled where they indicate 

they support a deferral account for fuel-switching budget.

     And I failed to ask – to put it to the witnesses.  And I would like to be able to refer to that in my argument, so I think it's, in fairness, if I would just like the 

opportunity just simply to at some time it to them now and 

ask if that is their -- conforms to their recollection that 

Union took that position at the outset of that hearing, 

although, as we've heard, that issue then was shunted away.

     MR. O'LEARY:  If Mr. Poch advises me that that's a true copy of the prefiled evidence of Union, that's good enough.

     MR. POCH:  Thank you.  That's satisfactory.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you, gentlemen.


[The Panel stands down]

     MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, all I was going to remind you 

was that you will begin tomorrow with Mr. Cass and the 

equity thickness panel again to complete that panel, and I 

believe this panel will be available thereafter.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Is that satisfactory?

     MR. O'LEARY:  Certainly.

     MR. KAISER:  Is that satisfactory to Mr. Shepherd?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

     MR. KAISER:  9:30 tomorrow.

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:31 p.m.
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